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PART |
Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in this report, inclgdimithout limitation, statements related to Towesam Corporation’s plans, strategies,
objectives, expectations, intentions and adequéoysources, are made pursuant to the safe harbeisipns of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Investors are cantd that such forward-looking statements involgksiand uncertainties including without
limitation the following: (i) Towerstream Corporati’s plans, strategies, objectives, expectatiodisiaentions are subject to change at any
time at the discretion of Towerstream Corporat{@h:Towerstream Corporation’s plans and resultspérations will be affected by
Towerstream Corporation’s ability to manage growtll competition; and (iii) other risks and uncetties indicated from time to time in
Towerstream Corporation’s filings with the Secastand Exchange Commission.

In some cases, you can identify forward-lookingesteents by terminology such as “may,” “will,”should,” “could,” “expects,”
“plans,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” or “continue” or the negative of such terms or other
comparable terminology. Although we believe that éixpectations reflected in the forward-lookingesteents are reasonable, we cannot
guarantee future results, levels of activity, perfance or achievements. Moreover, neither we ngio#mer person assumes responsibility for
the accuracy and completeness of such statemesdslels are cautioned not to place undue reliantieese forward-looking statements,

which speak only as of the date hereof. We arerumdleluty to update any of the forward-looking staénts after the date of this report.

Factors that might affect our forward-looking staénts include, among other things:

e overall economic and business conditic

e the demand for our goods and servit

e competitive factors in the industries in which veernpete;

e emergence of new technologies which compete wittsetvice offerings

e changes in tax requirements (including tax ratengba, new tax laws and revised tax law interpiatali

e the outcome of litigation and governmental procegslj

e interest rate fluctuations and other changes inowing costs

e other capital market conditions, including availépiof funding sources

e potential impairment of our indefin-lived intangible assets and/or our l-lived assets; an

e changes in government regulations related to tbadivand and Internet protocol industr
Item 1. Business.

Towerstream Corporation (“Towerstream”, “we”, “usdur” or the “Company”) provides broadband sergite commercial customers
and delivers access over a wireless network tratismover both regulated and unregulated radieaspm. Our service supports bandwidth
on demand, wireless redundancy, virtual privatevosis (“VPNs”), disaster recovery, bundled data giti@o services. We provide service to
business customers in New York City, Boston, Chicdgs Angeles, San Francisco, Seattle, Miami,d3alort Worth, Philadelphia,
Nashville, Providence and Newport, Rhode Isl:

The Company’s website addres$iitp: //www.tower stream.com . Information contained on the Company’s webgstaeat incorporated
into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Annual refsasn Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Qrent reports on Form 8-K and all
amendments to those reports are available frebafje through the Securities and Exchange Commigs&i=C") website at
http: //mww.sec.gov as soon as reasonably practicable after thosetseq@r electronically filed with or furnished t@etBEC.




Our Networks

Our broadband network is constructed in a signifigadifferent manner than the legacy service pews. In each of our markets, we
enter into lease agreements with building ownerghvive refer to as Company Locations. At thesatioos, we install a significant amount
of equipment on the building rooftop in order tainect numerous customers to the Internet. Weaalsnect to the Internet at some of these
locations by entering into either IP transit agreata or peering arrangements with a national seiovider. These connection points are
referred to as Points of Presence, or PoPs. EaehsPtinked” to one or more other PoPs to enhaedeindancy and make sure that there is
no single point of failure. We refer to the commgectivity of all of our PoPs as a “Wireless Ringhe Sky.” Each PoP has a coverage area
averaging of six miles although the exact distasa®be affected by numerous factors, most sigmfigahow clear the line of sight is
between the PoP and the customer location.

We also install equipment at each customer locatibich we refer to as Customer Locations. Equipnrestalled at both Company and
Customer Locations includes receivers and antenfasireless connection is established between €ardtomer Location to one or more
PoPs through which Internet service is provided avireless basis.

Markets

We intend to grow our business by deploying ouvisermore broadly and seeking to rapidly increagsecostomer base. We intend to
deploy our wireless broadband network broadly hotierms of geography and categories of commeatidlbusiness customers. We inter
increase the number of geographic markets we $grexpanding into new markets and through stratagiuisitions. We also plan to serv
a wide range of commercial customers ranging fromalsbusinesses to large enterprises.

We determine which geographic markets to enterssgssing a number of criteria in four broad caiegoFirst, we evaluate our ability
to deploy our service in a given market, takingiocbnsideration our spectrum position, the avditgtf towers and zoning constraints.
Second, we assess the market by evaluating theetushlbompetitors, existing price points, demogiegharacteristics and distribution
channels. Third, we evaluate the economic poteotitie market, focusing on our forecasts of reeegowth opportunities and capital
requirements. Finally, we look at market clustempgortunities and other cost efficiencies thathhige realized. Based on this approach, as
of December 31, 2010, we offered wireless broadlwamaectivity in nine markets in the top 20 meti@pa statistical areas covering 64% of
small and medium business (5 to 249 employees).

We believe there are significant market opportesitieyond the eleven markets in which we are cllyreffering our services. Our
long-term plan is to expand nationally into othegy tnetropolitan markets in the United States. Hawregiven the difficult economic
environment over the past few years, we have bearsing our efforts on the acquisition of otheraliss internet service providers in both
existing and new markets. We believe there amifsignt opportunities to acquire smaller, locadiigsed service providers. Many of these
operators have built a solid network and a stab$tatner base. However, the significant capitaliiregqnents associated with building and
maintaining a wireless network, combined with agloecession, have adversely impacted the finasti@hgth and liquidity of these
companies. We believe the cost of acquiring tlvesepanies can be less than achieving the samevestbwth organically. During 2010,
we completed two acquisitions and we expect to detefadditional acquisitions in 2011. Our decidiomrganically expand into new
markets will depend upon many factors includingtthéng and frequency of acquisitions, national échl economic conditions, and the
opportunity to leverage existing customer relatiops in new markets.

Sales and Marketing

We employ an inside direct sales force model tbaelservices to business customers. As of Deee®b, 2010, we employed 47 dir
sales people. We generally compensate these enaglayea salary plus commission basis. The terfusarsales force has improved in
recent years. Approximately 68% of our sales perebhad been with the Company for more than twavyas of December 31, 2010 as
compared to 67% and 8% as of December 31, 2002@08l respectively.

Our sales force staffing levels peaked in July 2068n we employed 128 direct sales personnelurie 2009, we reduced our direct
sales force by 34% in response to a growing empluasinternet based marketing initiatives. Thiarae reflected an increasing awareness
of the need to capture customer demand rathertthiag to create customer demand. Most compardesrs their bandwidth service under
contracts ranging in length from one to three yeds a result, customer buying decisions genebur when their existing contracts are
drawing closer to expiring. We believe that manydrs of information technology services searchrternet to learn about industry trends
and developments, as well as competitive servifainfjs. Our reduction in staffing levels has dadlus to cost effectively increase
spending on Internet based marketing initiativestdase sales productivity, and reduce total saddanarketing expenses.




We contract with a limited number of indirect satbannels including integrators, resellers, anéherdperators. We pay an initial sales
commissions on such sales, and in some cases, eshredidual. Sales through indirect channels cismpess than 5% of our total sales.

Competition

The market for broadband services is highly contipetiand includes companies that offer a variétyasvices using a number of
different technology platforms including cable netls, digital subscriber lines (“DSL"), third-gemion cellular, satellite, wireless Internet
service and other emerging technologies. We compitiethese companies on the basis of the portgbdase of use, speed and price of our
services. Competitors to our wireless broadbandees include:

Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers and Common Local Exchange Carriers

We face competition from traditional wireline optna in terms of price, performance, discounteds&br bundles of services, breadtl
service, reliability, network security, and eas@ofess and use. In particular, we face compefit@mn Verizon Communications Inc. and
AT&T Inc. which are referred to as “incumbent ldbexchange carriers,” or (“ILECS”), as well as €Blacific Communications, MegaPath
Networks Inc., and EarthLink, Inc. which are reéerto as“‘common local exchange carriers,” or (“CLECS").

Cable Modem and DSL Services

We compete with companies that provide Interneneativity through cable modems or DSL. Principainpetitors include cable
companies, such as Comcast Corporation, and inauntdlephone companies, such as AT&T Inc. or Verigemmunications Inc. Both the
cable and telephone companies deploy their sereweswired networks initially designed for voicedaone-way data transmission that have
subsequently been upgraded to provide for additisgraices.

Cellular and PCS Services

Cellular and personal communications service (“B@afriers are seeking to expand their capacitydwide data and voice services that
are superior to ours. These providers have suligriiroader geographic coverage than we have fandhe foreseeable future, than we
expect to have. If one or more of these providarsdeploy technologies that compete effectivelyhwitr services, the mobility and coverage
offered by these carriers will provide even greatanpetition than we currently face. Moreover, madganced cellular and PCS
technologies, such as third generation mobile teldyies, currently offer broadband service withkgdaata transfer speeds of up to
2,000,000 hits per second for fixed applicatioms] slower speeds for mobile applications. We exfietthird generation technology will be
improved to increase connectivity speeds to makeite suitable for a range of advanced applications

Wireless Broadband Service Providers

We also face competition from other wireless br@edbservice providers that use licensed and urdezbspectrum. In connection w
our merger and acquisition activities, we have meirged that most of our current and planned maraktsady have one or more locally be
companies providing wireless broadband Internetices. In addition to these commercial operato@yriocal governments, universities
other governmental or quasi-governmental entitrespgoviding or subsidizing “WiFi’networks over unlicensed spectrum, in some ca:
no cost to the user. There exist numerous smadl ladban and rural wireless operations offeringaleservices that could compete with u
our present or planned geographic markets.

Satellite

Satellite providers, such as WildBlue Communicatidnc. and Hughes Network Systems, LLC, offer bb@and data services that
address a niche market, mainly less densely paaukaeas that are unserved or underserved by cimmgetrvice providers. Although
satellite offers service to a large geographic detancy caused by the time it takes for the digm&avel to and from the satellite may
challenge a satellite provider’s ability to provisieme services, such as Voice over Internet Prb{ti¢olP”), which reduces the size of the
addressable market.




Other

We believe other emerging technologies may alsk seenter the broadband services market. For ebgwe are aware that several
power generation and distribution companies arkisge¢o develop or have already offered commetmiahdband Internet services over
existing electric power lines.

Competitive Strengths

Even though we face substantial existing and prismecompetition, we believe that we have a nundf@ompetitive advantages that
will allow us to retain existing customers andattrnew customers over time.

Reliability

Our network was designed specifically to supporelgiss broadband services. The networks of celloédle and DSL companies rely
infrastructure that was originally designed for Amnadband purposes. We also connect the custanoerr Wireless Ring in the Sky, which
has no single point of failure. This ring is fedyltiple lead Internet providers located at opfseinds of our service cities and connected to
our national ring which is fed by multiple leadiogrriers. We believe that we are the only wirelmsmdband provider that offers true sepz
egress for true redundancy. With DSL and cablerioffs, the wireline connection can be terminatediy backhoe swipe or switch failure.
Our Wireless Ring in the Sky is backhoe-proof amdiler-proof. As a result, our network has histdijoexperienced reliability rates of
approximately 99%.

Flexibility

Our wireless infrastructure and service delivergi#es us to respond quickly to changes in a custsrhmadband requirements. We
offer bandwidth options ranging from 0.5 megabés gecond up to 1.5 gigabit per second. We caallysadjust a customer’s bandwidth
remotely and without having to visit the custorradtion to modify or install new equipment. Changan often be made on a same day
basis.

Timeliness

In many cases, we can install a new customer agit loelivering Internet connectivity within 3 tobisiness days after receiving a
customers order. Many of the larger telecommunications ganies can take 30 to 60 days to complete an lizisted. As businesses cond
more of their business operations through the hetethe timeliness of service delivery has becarmee important.

Value

We own our entire network which enables us to poigeservices lower than most of our competitoedcically, we are able to offer
competitive prices because we do not have to Hagal loop charge from the telephone company.

Efficient Economic Model

Our economic model is characterized by low fixepliizd and operating expenditures relative to othieeless and wireline broadband
service providers. We own our entire network, thgreliminating costs involved in using lines owriBdtelephone or cable companies. Our
network is modular. Coverage is directly relatedhte height of the facility we are on. The averagea covered by a Point of Presence is a
six mile radius.

Experienced Management Team

We have an experienced executive management tedmnmare than 50 years of combined experience apanyleaders. Our Preside
and Chief Executive Officer, Jeffrey M. Thompsaaifounder of the Company and has more than 28 geperience in the data
communications industry. Our Chief Financial CéficJoseph P. Hernon, has been the chief finaoffiaér for three publicly traded
companies. Our Chief Operating Officer, Mel Yartgbuhas more than 10 years experience leadingt diaées organizations.




Corporate History

We were organized in the State of Nevada in Juf&.20 January 2007, we merged with and into a lykmined Delaware subsidiary,
for the sole purpose of changing our state of iporation to Delaware. In January 2007, a wholly-ed/subsidiary of ours merged with and
into a private company, Towerstream Corporatioth wWwowerstream Corporation being the surviving camp Upon closing of the merger,
we discontinued our former business and succeedtzt tbusiness of Towerstream Corporation as darlise of business. At the same time,
we also changed our name to Towerstream Corporatidnour subsidiary, Towerstream Corporation, gbdrits name to Towerstream |,
Inc.

Regulatory Matters

Wireless broadband services are subject to regulély the Federal Communications Commission (“FC@&t)the federal level, the FCC
has jurisdiction over wireless transmissions ofaierdlectromagnetic spectrum and all interstatedeinunications services. State regulatory
commissions have jurisdiction over intrastate comitations. Municipalities may regulate limited asiseof our business by, for example,
imposing zoning requirements and requiring instiaifapermits.

Telecommuni cations Regulation

Our wireless broadband systems can be used toderdviernet access service and VPNs. In a Marchi 8@@ision, the FCC classified
wireless broadband Internet access service adenstizte information service that is regulated ufdide | of the Communications Act of
1934, as amended. Accordingly, most regulationsahply to telephone companies and other commaiecsudo not apply to our wireless
broadband Internet access service. For examplarevaot currently required to contribute a perogataf gross revenues from our Internet
access services to universal service funds ussdpport local telephone service and advanced teleemications services for schools,
libraries and rural health care facilities (“USEds").

We are not required to file tariffs with the FC@ttiang forth the rates, terms, and conditions aflaternet access service. The FCC,
however, is currently considering whether to impeasgous consumer protection obligations, simitatitle Il obligations, on wireless
broadband Internet access providers. These regeimsmmay include obligations related to truth-ilikimy, slamming, discontinuing service,
customer proprietary network information and fetlaraversal service funds mechanisms. Internetsxpeoviders are currently subject to
applicable state consumer protection laws enfobgeeiach state’s Attorney General and general Fediemde Commission consumer
protection rules.

On August 5, 2005, the FCC adopted an Order finthagfacilities-based broadband Internet accesgigers are subject to the
Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement ACALEA”), which requires service providers coverey that statute to build certain
law enforcement surveillance assistance capalilitito their communications networks. The FCC regflifacilitiesbased broadband Interr
access providers to comply with CALEA requiremdntdMay 14, 2007. We have complied with such CALEAuirements.

On May 3, 2006, the FCC adopted an additional Caderessing CALEA compliance obligations of thes®vjalers. In that order, the
FCC: (i) affirmed the May 14, 2007 compliance dé&=l(ii) indicated compliance standards are talé&eeloped by the industry within the
telecommunications standards-setting bodies wortdggther with law enforcement; (iii) permitted tiige of certain third parties to satisfy
CALEA compliance obligations; (iv) restricted theadlability of compliance extensions; (v) concludédt facilitiesbased broadband Interr
access providers are responsible for any CALEA ldgveent and implementation costs; (vi) declared tha FCC may pursue enforcement
action, in addition to remedies available througga ¢ourts, against any n@oempliant provider; and (vii) adopted interim pregs report filing
requirements.

Broadband Internet-related and Internet protocolises regulatory policies are continuing to depeland it is possible that our
broadband Internet access could be subject toiadditregulations in the future. The extent of tegulations that will ultimately be
applicable to these services and the impact of seghlations on the ability of providers to compate currently unknown.

Soectrum Regulation
The FCC routinely reviews its spectrum policies aray change its position on spectrum allocatioosftime to time. We believe that

the FCC is committed to allocating spectrum to supwireless broadband deployment throughout thiedrStates and will continue to
modify its regulations to foster such deploymerttjcl will help us implement our existing and futimesiness plans.




Inter net Taxation

The Internet Tax Freedom Act, which was signed latoin October 2007, extended a moratorium ondaxelnternet access and
multiple, discriminatory taxes on electric commerthis moratorium had previously expired in Novem®@07, and as with the preceding
Internet Tax Freedom Act, “grandfathered” statieat taxed Internet access prior to October 1938loov them to continue to do so. Certain
states have enacted various taxes on Internetsaocetectronic commerce, and selected stédage's are being contested on a variety of b
However, state tax laws may not be successfullyested, and future state and federal laws impdsixgs or other regulations on Internet
access and electronic commerce may arise, anyichwbuld increase the cost of providing Interr@vices, which could, in turn, materially
adversely affect our business.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we had 131 employeeshohwl29 are full-time employees and 2 are part-em@loyees. As of February
28, 2011, we had 132 employees, of whom 131 akdifub employees and 1 is a part-time employee.béleve our employee relations are
good. Three employees are considered membersotfigxe management.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Prospective investors should carefully consider the risks described below
and other information contained in this annual report, including our financial statements and related notes before purchasing shares of our
common stock. There are numerous and varied risks, known and unknown, that may prevent us from achieving our goals. If any of these risks
actually occurs, our business, financial condition or results of operations may be materially adver sely affected. In that case, the trading price
of our common stock could decline and investorsin our common stock could lose all or part of their investment.

Risks Relating to Our Business

We may be unable to successfully execute any ofidentified business opportunities or other busiisespportunities that we
determine to pursue.

In order to pursue business opportunities, we wald to continue to build our infrastructure amdrejthen our operational capabilities.
Our ability to do any of these successfully coudddffected by any one or more of the following fast

- the ability of our equipment, our equipment supglier our service providers to perform as we expect
« the ability of our services to achieve market atamepe;
« our ability to manage third party relationshipsefively;

« our ability to identify suitable locations and theegotiate acceptable agreements with building osvee that we can establish Poi
of Presence"POP?") on their rooftop

« our ability to work effectively with new customerssecure approval from their landlord to instait equipment;

« our ability to effectively manage the growth ang&msion of our business operations without incgrércessive costs, high
employee turnover or damage to customer relatipss

« our ability to attract and retain qualified perselwhich may be affected by the significant comatiin our industry for individual
experienced in network operations and enginee

« equipment failure or interruption of service whibuld adversely affect our reputation and our retest with our customers;

« our ability to accurately predict and respond ® ttépid technological changes in our industry d&edetvolving demands of the
markets we serve; al




« our ability to raise additional capital to fund @rowth and to support our operations until we heafitability.

Ouir failure to adequately address any one or mbtieecabove factors could have a significant advérgpact on our ability to execute
our business plan and the long term viability of business.

We depend on the continued availability of leasesldicenses for our communications equipment.

We have constructed proprietary networks in eadh@imarkets we serve by installing antennae oftaps, cellular towers and other
structures pursuant to lease and license agreeneesgnd and receive wireless signals necessatiidavperation of our network. We
typically seek five year initial terms for our lesswith three to five year renewal options. Sucteveal options are generally exercisable a
discretion before the expiration of the currentrtelf these leases are terminated or if the owogétsese structures are unwilling to continue
to enter into leases or licenses with us in ther&ytwe would be forced to seek alternative arrareges with other providers. If we are unable
to continue to obtain or renew such leases onfaetisy terms, our business would be harmed.

Our business depends on a strong brand, and if vwendt maintain and enhance our brand, our abilitg fattract and retain customers
may be impaired and our business and operating fesmay be harmed.

We believe that our brand is a critical part of business. Maintaining and enhancing our brand reqyire us to make substantial
investments with no assurance that these investméhtbe successful. If we fail to promote and ntain the “Towerstream” brand, or if we
incur significant expenses in this effort, our Imesis, prospects, operating results and financraliton may be harmed. We anticipate that
maintaining and enhancing our brand will becomedasingly important, difficult and expensive.

We are pursuing acquisitions that we believe conmpémt our existing operations but which involve riskhat could adversely affect
our business.

Acquisitions involve risks that could adverselyeatf our business including the diversion of managgrtime from operations and
difficulties integrating the operations and persarof acquired companies. In addition, any futwguasition could result in significant costs,
the incurrence of additional debt or the issuarfesgaity securities to fund the acquisition, ane #ssumption of contingent or undisclosed
liabilities, all of which could materially advergehffect our business, financial condition and hessof operations.

In connection with any future acquisition, we gexigrwill seek to minimize the impact of contingeartd undisclosed liabilities by
obtaining indemnities and warranties from the selowever, these indemnities and warranties, ihwed, may not fully cover the liabilities
due to their limited scope, their amount or duratitie financial limitations of the indemnitor oawantor, or for other reasons.

We continue to consider strategic acquisitions,esofmwvhich may be larger than those previously deted and which could be material
acquisitions. Integrating acquisitions is oftelsttpand may require significant attention from rmagement. Delays or other operational or
financial problems that interfere with our operatianay result. If we fail to implement proper @lebusiness controls for companies or
assets we acquire or fail to successfully integifadse acquired companies or assets in our pragessefinancial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected. In aduljtiois possible that we may incur significant empes in the evaluation and pursuit of
potential acquisitions that may not be successfidiyipleted.

We have a history of operating losses and expedaidotinue incurring losses for the foreseeable fuéu

Our current business was launched in 1999 andnicasred losses in each year of operation. Througtebber 31, 2007, we incurred
cumulative operating losses totaling $16,714,72Wtoch $8,213,002 were recapitalized at the tirhewr S-corporation revocation. We
recorded a net loss of $13,377,419 in 2008, $8%526in 2009 and $5,603,007 in 2010. We cannotigatie when, if ever, our operations
will become profitable. We expect to incur sigréiit net losses as we develop our network, expanthatkets, undertake acquisitions,
acquire spectrum and pursue our business strafégyntend to invest significantly in our businegfdre we expect cash flow from
operations to be adequate to cover our operatipgreses.

If we are unable to execute our business stratadygeow our business, either as a result of thes identified in this section or for any
other reason, our business, prospects, financralitton and results of operations will be adversdfgcted.




Cash and cash equivalents represent one of our &sfgassets and in light of the recent market turiremnong financial institutions
and related liquidity issues, we may be at riskoefing uninsured for a large portion of such assetshaving timing problems accessing
such assets

The market turmoil experienced over the past feargieincluding the failure or insolvency of sevdaagje financial institutions and the
credit crunch affecting the short term debt markess caused liquidity problems for companies astitutions across the country. As of
December 31, 2010, we had approximately $23,0001008sh and cash equivalents with one large filshbanking institution. Although the
present regulatory response in the United Statestien a large institution becomes insolvent gdhehas been to have the failing institution
merge or transfer assets to more solvent entttieseby avoiding failures, it is possible that dingncial institution could become insolvent
fail. Attimes, our cash and cash equivalents byninsured or in deposit accounts that exceeBeleral Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC") insurance limits. If the institution at vich we have placed our fundsere to become insolvent or fail, we could be sk for losing i
substantial portion of our cash deposits, or irgignificant time delays in obtaining access to suetus. In light of the limited amount of
federal insurance for deposits, even if we wergpt@ad our cash assets among several instituti@na/ould remain at risk for the amount not
covered by insurance.

Our business may require additional capital for cimued growth, and our growth may be slowed if we ot have sufficient capital.

The continued growth and operation of our busimeasg require additional funding for working capitdébt service, the enhancement
upgrade of our network, the build-out of infrasture to expand our coverage, possible acquisimspossible bids to acquire spectrum
licenses. We may be unable to secure such fundiregn needed in adequate amounts or on acceptalns, i€ at all. To execute our busine
strategy, we may issue additional equity securitigaublic or private offerings, potentially at eiqe lower than the market price of our
common stock at the time of such issuance. Singjlaré may seek debt financing and may be forceddor significant interest expense. If
we cannot secure sufficient funding, we may beddno forego strategic opportunities or delay,estalck or eliminate network deployments,
operations, acquisitions, spectrum bids and otharstments.

Many of our competitors are better established dmal/e resources significantly greater than we hawdich may make it difficult to
attract and retain customers.

The market for broadband and related servicegjisjhcompetitive, and we compete with several ottwenpanies within each of our
markets. Many of our competitors are well estalelistvith larger and better developed networks apgati systems, longer relationships
with customers and suppliers, greater name redogrand greater financial, technical and marketegpurces than we have. Our competitors
may subsidize competing services with revenue fottimer sources and, thus, may offer their produntsseervices at prices lower than ours.
Our competitors may also reduce the prices of mivices significantly or may offer broadband aextivity packaged with other products or
services. We may not be able to reduce our pricesherwise combine our services with other prosloctservices, which may make it more
difficult to attract and retain customers. In ailoit businesses which are presently focused onigimayservices to residential customers may
expand their target base and begin offering seteidrisiness customers.

We expect existing and prospective competitorsitipatechnologies or business plans similar to,aurseek other means to develop
services competitive with ours, particularly if @aarvices prove to be attractive in our target rkThis competition may make it difficult
retain existing customers and attract new custamers

We may experience difficulties in constructing, uggling and maintaining our network, which could advsely affect customer
satisfaction, increase customer turnover and redum@ revenues

Our success depends on developing and providirdupts and services that give customers high quialigrnet connectivity. If the
number of customers using our network and the cenityl of our products and services increase, weregjuire more infrastructure and
network resources to maintain the quality of ouvises. Consequently, we may be required to makstantial investments to construct and
improve our facilities and equipment, and to upgradr technology and network infrastructure. Ifdeenot implement these developments
successfully, or if we experience inefficiencigsemtional failures or unforeseen costs during @mntation, the quality of our products and
services could decline.

We may experience quality deficiencies, cost ovesrand delays in implementing our network improveta@nd expansion, in
maintenance and upgrade projects, including thégosr of those projects not within our control be ttontrol of our contractors. Our network
requires the receipt of permits and approvals fnramerous governmental bodies, including municijgaliand zoning boards. Such bodies
often limit the expansion of transmission towerd ather construction necessary for our busineshireao receive approvals in a timely
fashion can delay system rollouts and raise theafasompleting projects. In addition, we typicadye required to obtain rights from land,
building or tower owners to install our antennad ather equipment to provide service to our custsm&e may not be able to obtain, on
terms acceptable to us, or at all, the rights re=aggo construct our network and expand our sesvic
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We also face challenges in managing and operatingetwork. These challenges include operatingntaaiing and upgrading network
and customer premise equipment to accommodateaisederaffic or technological advances, and margitie sales, advertising, customer
support, billing and collection functions of ourdiness while providing reliable network servicegpected speeds and quality. Our failure in
any of these areas could adversely affect custsatefaction, increase customer churn, increaseasis and decrease our revenues.

If we do not obtain and maintain rights to use lineed spectrum in one or more markets, we may bebl@#o operate in these markets
which could negatively impact our ability to exeeubur business strategy. To the extent we secwenised spectrum, we face increased
operational costs, greater regulatory scrutiny anthy become subject to arbitrary government decisioaking.

Since we provide our services in some markets mguiEensed spectrum, we must secure and maistdfitient rights to use licensed
spectrum by obtaining licenses or lotegm leases in those markets. Obtaining licensedtapm can be a long and difficult process thatlm
costly and require a disproportionate amount ofroanagement resources, and may require us to sigmificant debt or secure additional
capital. We may not be successful in our effortseoure financing and may not be deemed a quabfider due to our relatively small size
or our creditworthiness, or be able to acquiresdear maintain the spectrum necessary to executstaegy.

Licensed spectrum, whether owned or leased, pakiamal risks, including:

« inability to satisfy build-out or service deploynteaquirements upon which spectrum licenses oekease, or may be, conditioned,
« increases in spectrum acquisition costs or comfglexi

« competitive bids, pre-bid qualifications and pogtdtequirements for spectrum acquisitions, in whighmay not be successful
leading to, among other things, increased compati

« adverse changes to regulations governing specightsy

» the risk that acquired or leased spectrum willbetommercially usable or free of damaging interiee from licensed or unlicensed
operators in our or adjacent ban

« contractual disputes with, or the bankruptcy oeotleorganization of, the license holders, whichld@dversely affect control over
the spectrum subject to such licens

. failure of the FCC or other regulators to renewcspen licenses as they expire; and

- invalidation of authorization to use all or a sfigant portion of our spectrum.

We utilize unlicensed spectrum which is subjecitense competition, low barriers of entry and sldawns due to multiple users.

We presently utilize unlicensed spectrum to proweerice to certain customers. Unlicensed or “fig@&ctrum is available to multiple
users and may suffer bandwidth limitations, intenfice and slowdowns if the number of users exceeaffie capacity. The availability of
unlicensed spectrum is not unlimited and otheraatmeed to obtain permits or licenses to utillme $ame unlicensed spectrum that we
currently or may utilize in the future. The inherémitations of unlicensed spectrum could potalhtithreaten our ability to reliably deliver

our services. Moreover, the prevalence of unlicérsgeectrum creates low barriers of entry in ounustdy which naturally creates the poten
for increased competition.
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Interruption or failure of our information technolayy and communications systems could impair our &Wgito provide services which
could damage our reputation and adversely affect aperating results.

Our services depend on the continuing operatiaruoinformation technology and communications systeWe have experienced
service interruptions in the past and may expedesgevice interruptions or system failures in thteife. Any unscheduled service interruption
adversely affects our ability to operate our bussnegnd could result in an immediate loss of revenifieve experience frequent or persistent
system or network failures, our reputation coulgppbemanently harmed. We may need to make significapital expenditures to increase the
reliability of our systems, however, these captglenditures may not achieve the results we expect.

Excessive customer churn may adversely affect aoancial performance by slowing customer growthcireasing costs and reducing
revenues.

The successful implementation of our business gégrends upon controlling customer churn. Custorencis a measure of customers
who stop using our services. Customer churn cawdckase as a result of:

« interruptions to the delivery of services to custesnover our network;

» the availability of competing technology, such able modems, DSL, third-generation cellular, sigelvireless Internet service and
other emerging technologies, some of which mayebs &€xpensive or technologically superior to thusgered by us

« billing errors and/or general reduction in the éyadf our customer service;

« changes in promotions and new marketing or saléatines; and

« new competitors entering the markets in which werddervice.

An increase in customer churn can lead to slowstotner growth, increased costs and a reductioevierues.

If our strategy is unsuccessful, we will not be fiitable and our stockholders could lose their intaeent.

There is no prior history of other companies thatéhsuccessfully pursued our strategy of delivefixed wireless bandwidth services to
businesses. Many fixed wireless companies havedfaihd there is no guarantee that our strategyowiluccessful or profitable. If our
strategy is unsuccessful, the value of our compaay decrease and our stockholders could lose ¢héie investment.

We may not be able to effectively control and maaamr growth which would negatively impact our opions.

If our business and markets continue to grow ametldg, it will be necessary for us to finance arehage expansion in an orderly
fashion. In addition, we may face challenges in agamg expanding product and service offerings,iandtegrating acquired businesses.
Such events would increase demands on our existargagement, workforce and facilities. Failure tilsgaincreased demands could

interrupt or adversely affect our operations angsesbacklogs and administrative inefficiencies.

The success of our business depends on the contiguiontributions of key personnel and our abilitg attract, train and retain highly
qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on the continued servitesioChairman, Philip Urso, and our President @hief Executive Officer, Jeffrey
M. Thompson. In December 2007, we entered intecaytear employment agreement with Jeffrey M. Thoomp§ he agreement
automatically renews for additional one year pesiodless terminated by written notice no later tB@mlays prior to the expiration of the tt
current term. We cannot guarantee that any oftpessons will stay with us for any definite peribdss of the services of any of these
individuals could adversely impact our operatioig do not maintain policies of “key man” insurameeour executives.
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In addition, we must be able to attract, train, imaie and retain highly skilled and experiencedhtécal employees in order to
successfully introduce our services in new markatsgrow our business in existing markets. Quallifechnical employees often are in great
demand and may be unavailable in the time frameired| to satisfy our business requirements. We nuype able to attract and retain
sufficient numbers of highly skilled technical emyées in the future. The loss of technical persboneur inability to hire or retain sufficie
technical personnel at competitive rates of comgims could impair our ability to successfully grawr business and retain our existing
customer base.

Any acquisitions we make could result in integratiaifficulties that could lead to substantial costdelays or other operational or
financial difficulties.

We may seek to expand by acquiring competing basew including those operating in our currentrimss markets or those operatin
other geographic markets. We cannot accuratelyigirfte timing, size and success of our acquisiéifiarts and the associated capital
commitments that might be required. We expect tmanter competition for acquisitions which may lintie number of potential acquisition
opportunities and may lead to higher acquisitidngs. We may not be able to identify, acquire afipgbly manage additional businesses or
successfully integrate acquired businesses, ifwitliput substantial costs, delays or other openati or financial difficulties.

In addition, such acquisitions involve a numbeottfer risks, including:

. failure of the acquired businesses to achieve d¢gpgeesults;

« diversion of management’s attention and resoue@squisitions;

« failure to retain key customers or personnel ofgbguired businesses;

« disappointing quality or functionality of the actpd network and personnel; and
- risks associated with unanticipated events, liaédior contingencies.

Client dissatisfaction with, or performance probéeaf, a single acquired business could negativiéctour reputation. The inability to
acquire businesses on reasonable terms or sudtegsiegrate and manage acquired companies, ootharrence of performance problems
at acquired companies, could result in dilutiorfanorable accounting treatment or one-time chaagedifficulties in successfully managing
our business.

Our inability to obtain capital, internally genette cash, secure debt financing, or use shares af common stock to finance future
acquisitions could impair the growth and expansia our business.

The extent to which we will be able or willing teaishares of our common stock to consummate atqussivill depend on (i) the
market value of our securities which can fluctuadasiderably, (ii) liquidity of our common stockdhfiii) the willingness of potential sellers
to accept shares of our common stock as full diigdgzayment for their business. Using shares ofoaunmon stock for acquisitions may
result in significant dilution to existing stockldelrs. To the extent that we are unable to use constoek to make future acquisitions, our
ability to grow through acquisitions may be limiteg the extent to which we are able to raise chffitaugh debt or equity financings. We
may not be able to obtain the necessary capifahance any acquisitions. If we are unable to eb&alditional capital on acceptable terms,
may be required to reduce the scope of expansioedinect resources committed to internal purpoSes.inability to use shares of our
common stock to make future acquisitions may himderability to actively pursue our acquisition gram.

We rely on a limited number of third party suppl&that manufacture network equipment, and instathé maintain our network sites.
If these companies fail to perform or experiencelags, shortages or increased demand for their protiuor services, we may face short¢
of components, increased costs, and may be requiceslispend our network deployment.

We depend on a limited number of third party sugglto produce and deliver products required fomatworks. We also depend on a
limited number of third parties to install and ntain our network facilities. We do not maintain dagg term supply contracts with these
manufacturers. If a manufacturer or other providtees not satisfy our requirements, or if we loseaaufacturer or any other significant
provider, we may have insufficient network equiptnfen delivery to customers and for installationneaintenance of our infrastructure. Such
developments could force us to suspend the deplotyaf@ur network and the installation of new cuséos, thus impairing future growth.
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If our data security measures are breached, custosnmay perceive that our network is not secure whinay adversely affect our
ability to attract and retain customers and expaseto liability.

Network security and the authentication of a cugtidsncredentials are designed to protect unautbdrércess to data on our network.
Because techniques used to obtain unauthorizedgswe®r to sabotage networks change frequentlyremydnot be recognized until launched
against a target, we may be unable to anticipaimplement adequate preventive measures againsthor&ed access or sabotage.
Consequently, unauthorized parties may overcomecnyption and security systems, and obtain adoesata on our network. In addition,
because we operate and control our network andusiomers’ Internet connectivity, unauthorized asa@ sabotage of our network could
result in damage to our network and to the compudenther devices used by our customers. An aotyadrceived breach of network
security, regardless of whether the breach is auit,fcould harm public perception of the effectiees of our security measures, adversely
affect our ability to attract and retain customesgyose us to significant liability and adversdfget our business prospects.

The delivery of our services we could infringe dmetintellectual property rights of others, which maause us to engage in costly
litigation and, if we do not prevail, could also aae us to pay substantial damages and prohibit i f selling our services.

Third parties may assert infringement or otherliettual property claims against us. We may haveatp substantial damages, including
damages for past infringement if it is ultimateBtefmined that our services infringe a third parroprietary rights. Further, we may be
prohibited from selling or providing some of oundgees before we obtain additional licenses, whithyailable at all, may require us to pay
substantial royalties or licensing fees. Evenafmls are determined to be without merit, defenditawsuit takes significant time, may be
expensive and may divert management’s attentian fsar other business concerns. Any public annourcésirelated to litigation or
interference proceedings initiated or threatenedresg us could cause our business to be harmedwarstock price to decline.

Risks Relating to Our Industry

An economic or industry slowdown may materially andversely affect our business.

Slowdowns in the economy or in the wireless or Bb@and industry may impact demand for our servic€sistomers may reduce the
amount of bandwidth that they purchase from usndueiconomic downturns which will directly affectraevenues and operating results. An
economic or industry slowdown may cause other lmssies or industries to delay or abandon implementaf new systems and
technologies, including wireless broadband servieagther, political uncertainties, including aofgerrorism and other unforeseen events,
may impose additional risks upon and adverselycaffee wireless or broadband industry generallg, aur business, specifically.

The wireless broadband industry is continually eviolg which makes it difficult to forecast our fut@ prospects and increases the risk
of an investment in our securities. Our services yrizecome obsolete and we may not be able to dewsloypetitive products or services on
a timely basis or at all.

The broadband and wireless services industriestaeacterized by rapid technological change, coitiyvgepricing, frequent new service
introductions, and evolving industry standards weglilatory requirements. We believe that our sucdepends on our ability to anticipate
and adapt to these challenges and to offer coriygesiervices on a timely basis. We face a numbeliffi€ulties and uncertainties such as:

« competition from service providers using more ééiit, less expensive technologies, including prtsloot yet invented or
developed

« responding successfully to advances in competiclgn@ogies in a timely and cost-effective manner;
« migration toward standards-based technology, regusubstantial capital expenditures; and

« existing, proposed or undeveloped technologiesrttzat render our wireless broadband services legggile or obsolete.
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As the services offered by us and our competitexebbp, businesses and consumers may not accepeices as a commercially via
alternative to other means of delivering wirelessaldband services. As a result, our services megrbe obsolete and we may be unable to
develop competitive products or services on a §rbekis, or at all.

We are subject to extensive regulation that coufdit or restrict our activities. If we fail to comlg with these regulations, we may be
subject to penalties, both monetary and r-monetary, which may adversely affect our financiendition and results of operations.

Our business activities, including the acquisiti@ase, maintenance and use of spectrum licengesxgensively regulated by federal,
state and local governmental authorities. A nundbéederal, state and local privacy, security, aadsumer laws also apply to our business.
These regulations and their application are sulijecbntinual change as new legislation, regulationamendments to existing regulations
periodically implemented by governmental or reguigtauthorities, including as a result of judidiatierpretations of such laws and
regulations. Current regulations directly affea treadth of services we are able to offer and imggct the rates, terms and conditions of
services. Regulation of companies that offer compgetervices such as cable and DSL providers, @leddmmunications carriers also affects
our business.

We believe that we are not required to registeh it Universal Service Administrative Company (AL3) as a seller of
telecommunications, nor are we required to colléatersal Service Fund (“USF”) Fees from our custosror to pay USF Fees directly.
However, the FCC could assert that we are a sd#liemlecommunications and that we are requireegister and pay USF Fees on some or all
of our gross revenues. Although we would contegtsarch assertion, we could become obligated tdfly Fees, interest and penalties to
USAC related to past and/or future revenues antheae be unable to retroactively bill our customensgast USF Fees.

In addition, the FCC or other regulatory authositt®uld restrict our ability to manage customes of our network, thereby limiting ¢
ability to prevent or address customers’ excessarawidth demands. To maintain the quality of cetwork and user experience, we may
manage the bandwidth used by our customers’ apiolic in part by restricting the types of applioas that may be used over our network.
If the FCC or other regulatory authorities werattmpt regulations that constrain our ability to éggpandwidth management practices,
excessive use of bandwidth-intensive applicationsld/likely reduce the quality of our services &dircustomers. Such decline in the quality
of our services could harm our business.

The breach of a license or applicable law, eveidaatally, can result in the revocation, suspensiamcellation or reduction in the term
of a license or the imposition of fines. In additioegulatory authorities may grant new licensethita parties, resulting in greater
competition in territories where we already haghts to licensed spectrum. In order to promote citipn, licenses may also require that
third parties be granted access to our bandwidtkyuency capacity, facilities or services. We maylre able to obtain or retain any required
license, and we may not be able to renew a licendavorable terms, or at all.

Wireless broadband services may become subjecetieag state or federal regulation in the fututee $cope of the regulations that may
apply to companies like us and the impact of segulations on our competitive position are presamtknown and could be detrimental to
our business and prospects.

Risks Relating to Our Organization

Our certificate of incorporation allows for our baa to create new series of preferred stock withéwtther approval by our
stockholders which could adversely affect the righdf the holders of our common stoc

Our board of directors has the authority to fix @etdermine the relative rights and preferences@fiepred stock. Our board of directors
also has the authority to issue preferred stockawit further stockholder approval. As a result, looard of directors could authorize the
issuance of a series of preferred stock that wgrddt to such holders (i) the preferred right to assets upon liquidation, (ii) the right to
receive dividend payments before dividends areibliged to the holders of common stock and (iig tlght to the redemption of the shares,
together with a premium, prior to the redemptiomof common stock. In addition, our board of dioestcould authorize the issuance of a
series of preferred stock that has greater votovggp than our common stock or that is convertibte bur common stock, which could
decrease the relative voting power of our commoaksbr result in dilution to our existing commonogitholders.

Any of the actions described in the proceeding grash could significantly adversely affect the istveent made by holders of our
common stock. Holders of common stock could pidéntnot receive dividends that they might othesevhave received. In addition, holc
of our common stock could receive less proceedsimection with any future sale of the Company, tivbein liquidation or on any other
basis.
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Our officers and directors own a substantial amouoit our common stock and, therefore, exercise sfgrant control over our
corporate governance and affairs which may resuittheir taking actions with which other shareholdeido not agree.

Our executive officers and directors, and entiéiffsiated with them, control approximately 19%air outstanding common stock
(including shares of common stock underlying exsadsie stock options). These shareholders, if tkeyogether, may be able to exercise
substantial influence over the outcome of all coap®actions requiring approval of our shareholdacduding the election of directors and
approval of significant corporate transactions,alihinay result in corporate action with which otbleareholders do not agree. This
concentration of ownership may also have the efiédelaying or preventing a change in control vahigight be in other shareholders’ best
interest but which might negatively affect the nedririce of our common stock.

We are subject to extensive financial reporting arelated requirements for which our accounting arather management systems and
resources may not be adequately prepared.

We are subject to reporting and other obligatiomden the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amigndeluding the requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Sectionré@diires us to conduct an annual management asseissfiihe effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting. Thesporting and other obligations will place sigréfit demands on our management,
administrative, operational and accounting resairédée anticipate that we may need to (i) upgradesgstems, (ii) implement additional
financial and management controls, reporting systend procedures, (i) implement an internal afutittion, and (iv) hire additional
accounting, internal audit and finance staff. If ave unable to accomplish these objectives in alyirand effective manner, our ability to
comply with our financial reporting requirementslasther rules that apply to reporting companieddcbe impaired. Any failure to maintain
effective internal controls could have a negatmeact on our ability to manage our business andusrstock price.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

We may fail to qualify for continued listing on thBIASDAQ Capital Market which could make it more #idult for investors to sell
their shares.

In May 2007, our common stock was approved foinigsbn the NASDAQ Capital Market and our commorcktoontinues to be listed
on the NASDAQ Capital Market. There can be no asste that trading of our common stock on such ntavkebe sustained or that we can
meet NASDAQ's continued listing standards. In therd that our common stock fails to qualify for tianed inclusion, our common stock
could thereafter only be quoted on the OTC Bull8trard which is commonly referred to as the “pihkets.” Under such circumstances,
shareholders may find it more difficult to sell,torobtain accurate quotations, for our commonkstand our common stock would become
substantially less attractive to certain purchasech as financial institutions, hedge funds aheiogimilar investors.

Our common stock may be affected by limited tradivjume and price fluctuations which could advergempact the value of our
common stock.

Trading in our common stock can fluctuate signifitbaand there can be no assurance that an actigimg market will either develop or
be maintained. Our common stock is expected tomeato experience significant price and volumetihations. This trading activity could
adversely affect the market price of our commoulsigithout regard to our operating performanceaddition, we believe that factors suct
quarterly fluctuations in our financial results asfthnges in the overall economy or the conditiotheffinancial markets could cause the p
of our common stock to fluctuate substantially. 3dh8uctuations may also cause short sellers togieally enter the market in the belief tl
our stock price will decline in the future. We cahpredict the actions of market participants @ $tock market as a whole. We can offer no
assurances that the market for our common stodlbwistable or that our stock price will fluctuiriea manner that is consistent with our
operating results.

We have not paid dividends in the past and do nqtect to pay dividends in the future. Any return @m investment in our common
stock is expected to be limited to an increasehia value of the common stoc

We have never paid cash dividends on our commark stod do not anticipate doing so in the foreseehltlre. The payment of
dividends on our common stock will depend on ouniegs, financial condition, and other business acohomic factors as our board of
directors may consider relevant. If we do not psydénds, our common stock may be less valuabladiez a return on a shareholder’s
investment will only occur if our stock price appieges.
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We adopted a Rights Plan in 2010 which may discaygdhird parties from attempting to acquire controf our company and have an
adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

In November 2010, we adopted a rights plan (“thghi& Plan”) and declared a dividend distributiomioé preferred share purchase right
for each outstanding share of common stock aseofébord date on November 14, 2010. Each rightnvexercisable, entitles the registered
holder to purchase from us one-hundredth (11.p6f a share of Series A Preferred Stock, par v@u801 per shares of the Company (the
“Preferred Stock”) at a purchase price of $18.00qme-hundredth (1/100) of a share of the Preferred Stock, subject ttageadjustments.
The rights will generally separate from the commstotk and become exercisable if any person or gasgpires or announces a tender offer
to acquire 15% or more of our outstanding commonlstwithout the consent of our board of direct@®scause the rights may substantially
dilute the stock ownership of a person or groupraftting to take us over without the approval of lmaard of directors, our Rights Plan could
make it more difficult for a third party to acquius (or a significant percentage of our outstandigjtal stock) without first negotiating with
our board of directors. In addition, we are goverhg provisions of Delaware law that may prohibitge stockholders, in particular those
owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stdottn merging or combining with us.

The provisions in our charter, bylaws, Rights Riad under Delaware law related to the foregoindccdiscourage takeover attempts
that our stockholders would otherwise favor, oreotyise reduce the price that investors might béngito pay for our common stock in the
future.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties.

Our executive offices are currently located in Meddwn, Rhode Island, where we lease approxima2]§37 square feet of space,
consisting of a 17,137 square feet building at Bnkharlund Way for our administrative, engineerinéprmation technology and customer
care offices and a 25,000 square feet buildin@e®iB/a Lane for our sales call center. Our anmeial payments totaled approximately
$557,000 in 2010 and will remain at that level tlgb May 2012, before increasing to approximatel 800 through the end of the lease.
Our lease expires on October 1, 2013 with an opgbaenew for an additional five-year term. We ad own any real property.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

There are no significant legal proceedings pending,we are not aware of any material proceedintéecoplated by a governmental
authority, to which we are a party or any of owperty is subject.

Item 4. (Removed and Reserved).
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities.
Market Information

Our common stock was quoted on the OTC BulletinrBdeom January 12, 2007 through May 30, 2007 utideisymbol TWER.OB.
Since May 31, 2007, our common stock has beerdlstethe NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol TRVIPrior to January 12, 2007,
there was no active market for our common stocle fbllowing table sets forth the high and low salases as reported on the NASDAQ
Capital Market. The quotations reflect inter-degegces, without retail mark-up, mark-down or corasidn, and may not represent actual
transactions.

FISCAL YEAR 2010 HIGH LOW

First Quarte! $ 23C % 1.4C
Second Quarte $ 19t $ 1.3€
Third Quartel $ 23¢ % 1.45
Fourth Quarte $ 42 3 1.94
FISCAL YEAR 2009 HIGH LOW

First Quartel $ 1.2¢ $ 0.6¢
Second Quarte $ 09¢ % 0.67
Third Quartel $ 20C % 0.84
Fourth Quarte $ 20C % 1.3z

The last reported sales price of our common stocthe NASDAQ Capital Market on December 31, 2018 %.06 and on March 15,
2011, the last reported sales price was $4.41. ooy to the records of our transfer agent, as afdfl 15, 2011, there were approximately
50 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends oea@umon stock, and we do not intend to pay ani dasdends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. Rather, we exjgecttain future earnings (if any) to fund the @tiem and expansion of our business and for
general corporate purposes.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

As of December 31, 2010, securities issued andisiestavailable for future issuance under our 28@8-Employee Directors
Compensation Plan, our 2007 Equity Compensation &ha our 2007 Incentive Stock Plan were as follows

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securitiesto ~ Weighted average Number of securities
issued upon exercise of exercise price of remaining available for futu
outstanding options,  outstanding options, issuance under equity
warrants and right warrants and right compensation plar
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs 3,706,88! $ 1.74 1,937,89!
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotgers - $ - -
Total 3,706,88! $ 1.74 1,937,89!

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Not applicable.
Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.
Overview

We provide broadband services to commercial custorued deliver access over a wireless network mnétisg over both regulated and
unregulated radio spectrum. Our service suppamslwidth on demand, wireless redundancy, virtdabge networks (“VPNs”"), disaster
recovery, bundled data and video services. We geosérvice to business customers in New York @bston, Chicago, Los Angeles, San
Francisco, Seattle, Miami, Dallas-Fort Worth, Pidiphia, Nashville, Providence and Newport, Rhcdanid.

On April 15, 2010, we completed the acquisitiorthef customer contracts, network infrastructure r@tated assets of the Chicago,
lllinois and Nashville, Tennessee networks of Sphardg Chicago, Inc. (“Sparkplug”). The aggregatesidaration for the acquisition was (i)
$1,170,000 in cash and (ii) 275,700 shares of oaraon stock (the “Sharesith a fair value of $430,000. A registration sta@nt covering
the Shares on Form S-3 was declared effective ®BHC on May 5, 2010. The acquisition of Sparkphag a business combination
accounted for under the acquisition method.

On December 15, 2010, we completed the acquisiidhe customer contracts, network assets ancerbkgsets of Pipeline Wireless,
LLC (“Pipeline™), which was primarily based in tigeeater Boston area. The aggregate consideratichd acquisition includes (i)
approximately $1.6 million in cash, (ii) 411,523registered shares of common stock with a fair vafuegpproximately $1.5 million (iii)
approximately $0.6 million of deferred cash paymsenmter a 36 month period beginning June 2011, imh@gproximately $0.2 million in
assumed liabilities. The acquisition of Pipelinesva business combination accounted for underciipgisition method.

Characteristics of our Revenues and Expenses

We offer our services under agreements having tefrose, two or three years. Pursuant to thesesaggats, we bill customers on a
monthly basis, in advance, for each month of serikayments received in advance of services peefbare recorded as deferred revenues
and recognized as revenue ratably over the sepeded.

Costs of revenues consists of expenses that &etlglirelated to providing services to our custanercluding Core Network expenses
(tower and roof rent expense and utilities, bandhvibsts, Points of Presence (“PoP”) maintenandeotimer) and Customer Network
expenses (customer maintenance, non-installatesmdad other customer specific expenses). Wectiohdy refer to Core Network and
Customer Network as our “Network,” and Core Netwooksts and Customer Network costs as “Network Costthen we first enter a new
market, or expand in an existing market, we areired to incur up-front costs in order to be abl@tovide wireless broadband services to
commercial customers. We refer to these activagesstablishing a “Network Presence.” These éoshsde building PoPs which are
Company Locations where we install a substantialwarhof equipment in order to connect numerousoeuets to the Internet. The costs to
build PoPs are capitalized and expensed over gyéae period. In addition to building PoPs, weoaster tower and roof rental agreements,
secure bandwidth and incur other Network CostsceQme have established a Network Presence in amaeket or expanded our Network
Presence in an existing market, we are capablereiting a significant number of customers throtiggt Network Presence. The variable
cost to add new customers is relatively modesg@ally compared to the upfront cost of establigton expanding our Network Presence.
a result, our gross margins in a market normallyease over time as we add new customers in th&emaHowever, we may experience
variability in gross margins during periods in whige are expanding our Network Presence in a market

Sales and marketing expenses primarily considietalaries, benefits, travel and other costs pfales and marketing teams, as well as
marketing initiatives and business development eses.

Customer support services includes salaries aaterepayroll costs associated with our customepatiservices, customer care, and
installation and operations staff.

General and administrative expenses include ctsiisuaable to corporate overhead and the oveuwgdpsrt of our operations. Salaries
and other related payroll costs for executive manant, finance, administration and information ey personnel are included in this
category. Other costs include rent, utilities attter facility costs, accounting, legal and othexf@ssional services, and other general
operating expenses.
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Market Information

We operate in one segment which is the businegsrefess broadband services. Although we prosi&l®ices in multiple markets, the
operations have been aggregated into one repogaghaent based on the similar economic charadtsramong all markets, including the
nature of the services provided and the type diotnsrs purchasing such services. While we opénaialy one business segment, we
recognize that providing information on the revexard costs of operating in each market can praweéul information to investors
regarding our operating performance.

As of December 31, 2010, we operated in eleven etaudkcross the United States including New YorlstBo, Los Angeles, Chicago,
San Francisco, Miami, Seattle, Dallas-Fort WorthiJd®lelphia, Nashville and Providence. The marketee launched at different times, and
as a result, may have different operating metracseld on their size and stage of maturation. W isignificant up-front costs in order to
establish a Network Presence in a new market. efbests include building PoPs and Network CostiheOmaterial costs include hiring and
training sales and marketing personnel who wiltlbdicated to securing customers in that marketceQve have established a Network
Presence in a new market, we are capable of segvicsignificant number of customers. The rateustomer additions varies from marke
market, and we are unable to predict how many ouste will be added in a market during any spegiédod. We believe that providing
operating information regarding each of our marketssides useful information to shareholders inansthnding the leveraging potential of
our business model, the operating performance ofr@aiure markets, and the long-term potential forreewer markets. Set forth below is a
summary of our operating performance on a per-nmér&sis, and a description of how each categodgtisrmined.

Revenues : Revenues are allocated based on which marketaetbmer is located in.

Costs of Revenues : Includes payroll, Core Network costs and Custoletwork costs that can be specifically allocated specific market.
Costs that can not be allocated to a specific ntaneeclassified as Centralized Costs.

Operating Costs : Costs which can be specifically allocated to akaginclude direct sales personnel, certain dinegtketing expenses,
certain customer support and installation payngtlenses and third party commissions.

Centralized Costs : Represents costs incurred to support activitiesss all of our markets that are not allocabla $pecific market. This
principally consists of payroll costs for custorsare representatives, customer support enginedes, support, marketing and certain
installations personnel. These individuals serciggtomers across all markets rather than beingated to any specific market.

Corporate expenses : Includes costs attributable to corporate overteatithe overall support of our operations. Se¢aaind related payroll
costs for executive management, finance, admitiistrand information systems personnel are includetis category. Other costs include
office rent, utilities and other facilities cosgspfessional services and other general operatipgreses.

Adjusted Market EBITDA : Represents a market’s net income (loss) beforedisttetaxes, depreciation, amortization, stock-thase
compensation, and other income (expense). Wevedlies metric provides useful information regagdthe cash flow being generated in a
market.

We began providing broadband services in Philade]gtennsylvania in 2010. The Sparkplug acquisitioApril 2010 expanded and

strengthened our presence in Chicago and also brasgnto the Nashville, Tennessee market. TheliPie acquisition in December 2010
expanded and strengthened our operations in ttaegrBoston area.
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Year ended December 31, 2010

Adjusted
Cost of Gross Operating Market

Market Revenues Revenues Margin Costs EBITDA
New York $ 5,782,611 $ 1,160,43 $ 4,622,17¢ $ 1,187,000 $ 3,435,17.
Boston 4,509,90! 728,42¢ 3,781,47 689,10: 3,092,37!
Los Angeles 3,178,02 611,54: 2,566,48 1,098,55: 1,467,93.
Chicago 2,452,56! 798,45’ 1,654,11. 604,36° 1,049,74.
San Francisc 1,161,01 246,34 914,66¢ 361,73( 552,93t
Miami 987,14« 317,54¢ 669,59t 360,99: 308,60!
Providence/Newpol 494,78« 161,92: 332,86 112,23: 220,63:
Seattle 510,51¢ 217,62 292,89: 126,70: 166,18t
Nashville 59,08¢ 29,40( 29,68 17,56 12,12:
Dallas-Fort Worth 492,96: 315,28 177,67¢ 225,60:- (47,929
Philadelphia 17,27( 54,13¢ (36,86%) 183,92( (220,789
Total $ 19,64589 $ 4,641,13 $ 15,004,76 $ 4,967,760 $ 10,036,99
Reconciliation of Nor-GAAP Financial Measure to GAAP Financial Measure
Adjusted market EBITD/ $ 10,036,99
Centralized cost (2,916,68)
Corporate expensit (6,626,60i)
Depreciation and amortizatic (5,770,33)
Stocl-based compensatic (771,819
Other income (expense) 445,43t
Net loss $ (5,603,00)
Year ended December 31, 2009

Adjusted

Cost of Gross Operating Market

Market Revenues Revenues Margin Costs EBITDA
New York $ 5,217,78 $ 929,24' $ 4,288,553 $ 1,247,29. $ 3,041,24
Boston 3,982,95. 656,24 3,326,71. 734,87t 2,591,83!
Los Angeles 1,930,58. 340,33« 1,590,24 1,042,98. 547,26:
San Francisc 984,55t 217,72: 766,83: 414,43t 352,39¢
Providence/Newpol 529,64 150,53! 379,10° 200,18( 178,92
Chicago 951,27 391,04° 560,23( 460,52¢ 99,70:
Miami 589,60¢ 258,94 330,66° 381,52¢ (50,867)
Seattle 430,77t 233,01 197,76: 258,75¢ (60,995
Dallas-Fort Worth 298,25’ 261,31( 36,941 403,67. (366,729
Total $ 14,91543 $ 3,438,39. $ 11,477,044 $ 5,14425 $ 6,332,78
Reconciliation of Nor-GAAP Financial Measure to GAAP Financial Measure
Adjusted market EBITD/ $ 6,332,78
Centralized cost (2,786,12)
Corporate expensit (6,140,13))
Depreciatior (4,035,26)
Stocl-based compensatic (802,95¢)
Other income (expense) (1,193,56)
Net loss $ (8,625,25)

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2009

Revenues. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2@4led $19,645,893 compared to $14,915,435 foydlae ended December
31, 2009, representing an increase of $4,730,458%. This increase was driven by a 48% increaseir customer base during 2010. The
effect of the increase in our customer base wasaparoffset by a decrease of 5% in average reeguer user (“ARPU”) during the 2010
period as compared to the 2009 period.
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Sequential revenue growth for the year ended Deeeih 2010 was 32% compared to 40% for the yedecddecember 31, 2009.
ARPU as of December 31, 2010 totaled $682 compar8d@15 as of December 31, 2009, representing ease of $33, or 5%. The decre
relates to new customers purchasing lower ARPUymtsdduring the economic recession. The custoawsired from Sparkplug in April
2010 had an ARPU of $463 compared to $703 for astamer base which had the effect of lowering mstyacquisition ARPU by $29. The
customers acquired from Pipeline in December 2GiDan ARPU of $704 compared to $680 for our custdrase which had the effect of
increasing our post-acquisition ARPU by $2.

Customer churn, calculated as a percent of revirst®n a monthly basis from customers terminasi@gyice or reducing their service
level, totaled 1.35% for the year ended DecembgePB10 compared to 1.67% for the year ended Dece8ihe2009, representing a 19%
decrease on a percentage basis. The lower chtine 2010 period reflects the results of our effootimprove customer service.

Cost of Revenues.  Cost of revenues for the year ended Decemhe2@®D totaled $4,887,881 compared to $3,690,08théoyear
ended December 31, 2009, representing an incré&de1®7,792, or 32%. Gross margins remained stabV5% during both the 2010 and
2009 periods. Core Network costs increased bycqpately $865,000 primarily related to higher towent and bandwidth expenses, which
were partly related to the acquisition of Sparkpl@ustomer Network costs increased by approxim&&70,000 primarily related to the
growth in our customer base.

Depreciation and Amortization.  Depreciation and amortization for the year eénBecember 31, 2010 totaled $5,770,335 compared to
$4,035,267 for the year ended December 31, 2008esenting an increase of $1,735,068, or 43%. &vegnized approximately $955,00C
amortization expense in the 2010 period primardyagiated with customer contracts acquired thrabgtSparkplug acquisition. In addition,
we continued to invest in our Network to suppog gnowth in our customer base and expansion iriegimarkets. Gross fixed assets at
December 31, 2010 totaled $32,608,306 compared@B3$8,563 at December 31, 2009, representingaadae of $6,269,743, or
24%. Depreciation expense was $4,815,113 for ¢fae gnded December 31, 2010 compared to $4,03%2&7e year ended December 31,
2009, representing an increase of $779,846, or 19%.

Customer Support Services.  Customer support services expenses for thegraed December 31, 2010 totaled $2,549,615 comipare
$2,132,968 for the year ended December 31, 2008esenting an increase of $416,647, or 20%. Tliease was primarily related to
additional personnel hired to support our growingtomer base. Average department headcount irectdss18% from 40 in 2009 to 47 in
2010.

Salesand Marketing.  Sales and marketing expenses for the year endeghidess 31, 2010 totaled $5,088,085 compared to $5/%4
for the year ended December 31, 2009, represeatderrease of $457,629, or 8%. Payroll costsrettisales personnel decreased by
approximately $818,000 as headcount averaged Shéoyear ended December 31, 2010 compared witbrtBe same period in 2009, a
decrease in average headcount of 30%. This decvess offset by an increase in marketing and aiduggtexpenses of approximately
$172,000, primarily related to Internet based atisiag programs. Beginning in the second half @2, our sales and marketing strategy
evolved towards the enhanced use of Internet-basekieting programs which has both increased qadliads and enabled us to reduce
direct sales headcount. In addition, commissiankteonuses increased by approximately $268,00@ei2®10 period.

General and Administrative.  General and administrative expenses for the g:eded December 31, 2010 totaled $7,398,420 cadpar
to $6,943,086 for the year ended December 31, 2@p8esenting an increase of $455,334, or 7%. ifkhrease was attributable to higher
professional services fees of approximately $38m,p8imarily related to acquisition activities,wsll as an increase in bad debt expense of
approximately $75,000.

Interest Income. Interest income for the year ended December 310 ffitaled $4,411 compared to $26,605 for the ypdeé
December 31, 2009, representing a decrease of )1 83%. The decrease primarily relates to taaverage cash balances and interest
yields in the 2010 period compared with the 200@oge Average cash balances decreased from appadeiy $19.4 million in the 20C
period to approximately $12.5 million in the 201€ripd. Monthly interest yields averaged 0.11%hi& 2009 period compared with 0.01% in
the 2010 period.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense for the year ended Decemhe&2@D totaled $489 compared to $740,409 for tlae gaded
December 31, 2009, representing a decrease of RB%r 100%. Interest expense for the 2009 péniddded $456,778 associated with
accretion of debt discount and $220,000 associatitdthe 8% coupon on outstanding debt. Outstandebt of $2,750,000 was repaid on
December 31, 20009.
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Gain on Business Acquisition.  Gain on business acquisition totaled $355,876Herny/ear ended December 31, 2010 compared with zer
for the year ended December 31, 2009. The gairr@a@sgnized in connection with the acquisition pafkplug in April 2010 which was
purchased at a discounted price due to the reaéghiof geographic markets by Sparkpkigarent company. No acquisitions were comp
during the 2009 period.

Losson Derivative Financial Instruments.  Loss on derivative financial instruments totaletbZier the year ended December 31, 2010
compared with $478,544 for the year ended Decelbe2009, representing a decrease of 100%. Ourectble debentures and certain of
our warrants were classified as derivative instmisieluring the 2009 period, and accordingly, wereed at the end of each reporting period
based on the Black-Scholes option pricing moddian@es in fair value were recognized as gain @rdosderivative financial instruments.
Our debentures were repaid at the end of 2009es®t provisions in certain warrants are no longefieable as of January 1, 2010. As a
result, there were no derivative instruments oatfitey during the 2010 period.

Net Loss. Net loss for the year ended December 31, 26tHled $5,603,007 compared to $8,625,250 for tlae geded December
31, 2009, representing a decrease of $3,022,285%r This decrease primarily related to an iaseein revenues of $4,730,458, or 32%,
offset by an increase in operating expenses o#%3232, or 15%. In addition, non-operating expeantded $1,193,561 in the 2009 period
compared to non-operating income of $445,436 dutied2010 period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically met our liquidity and capitafiuirements primarily through the public sale pridate placement of equity securit
and debt financing. Cash and cash equivalentetb®23,173,352 and $14,040,839 at December 31, 20d December 31, 2009,
respectively. The increase in cash and cash equtsatelated to our operating, investing and finapactivities during the year ended
December 31, 2010, each of which is described helstwebruary 28, 2011, we had cash and cash elguits totaling approximately
$22,000,000.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities.  Net cash provided by operating activities for year ended December 31, 2010
totaled $593,802 compared to net cash used in tipgactivities of $2,979,757 for the year endeat@®aber 31, 2009, representing an
increase of $3,573,569, or 120%. This improvermet directly related to the lower net loss repontetthe 2010 period which decreased by
$3,022,243, or 35%, as compared to the 2009 period.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities.  Net cash used in investing activities for tlearyended December 31, 2010 totaled $8,413,012
compared to $4,944,326 for the year ended DeceBhe2009, representing an increase of $3,468,6800%. We paid $1,170,000 and
$1,580,060 in cash for the acquisition of Sparkglng Pipeline, respectively, in the 2010 periadaddition, our investment in property and
equipment increased by $811,457, or 17%, from 8{&% to $5,659,702. The significant componenthefincrease included approxima
$642,000 related to customer premise equipmenapptbximately $163,000 related to network and Iséstion equipment.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities foe §fear ended December 31, 2010
totaled $16,951,723 compared to net cash usedanding activities of $2,775,346 for the year enDedember 31, 2009, representing an
increase of $19,727,069. The increase primarlbted to gross proceeds of $18,400,000 resultiog fihe sale of 6,571,429 shares of
common stock at $2.80 per share in November 208.cash used in 2009 related to the repaymen2,G58,000 of senior convertible
debentures in December 2009.

Working Capital.  As of December 31, 2010, we had working camits#20,184,121. Based on our current operatingities and plan:
we believe our existing working capital will enalole to meet our anticipated cash requirementstfieaat the next twelve months.

Acquisition of Sparkplug Chicago, Inc. On April 15, 2010, we completed the acquisitiorttef customer contracts, network infrastruc
and related assets of the Chicago, Illinois andhii#le, Tennessee networks of Sparkplug. The aggesgonsideration for the acquisition v
() $1,170,000 in cash, and (ii) 275,700 sharesusfcommon stock (the “Shares”) with a fair valdi&430,000. A registration statement
covering the Shares on Form S-3 was declared safételoy the SEC on May 5, 2010. The acquisition pfu®plug was a business combination
accounted for under the acquisition method.

Acquisition of Pipeline Wireless, LLC. On December 15, 2010, we completed the acquisitidhe customer contracts, network assets
and related assets of Pipeline, which was priméadlyed in the greater Boston area. The aggregasgderation for the acquisition includes
(i) approximately $1.6 million in cash, (i) 41132nregistered shares of our common stock withravédue of approximately $1.5 million,
(iii) approximately $0.6 million of deferred cashyments over a 36 month period beginning June 28d (iv) approximately $0.2 million
assumed liabilities. The acquisition of Pipelinesveabusiness combination accounted for under thgisiton method.
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Senior Convertible Debentures

In January 2007, we sold $3,500,000 of senior cdible debentures. These debentures required glyairtéerest payments of 8% per
annum and matured on December 31, 2009. Holdegtrsealebentures received five-year warrants tolase an aggregate of 636,364 shares
of common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 paresand five-year warrants to purchase an aggej#36,364 shares of common stock at
an exercise price of $6.00 per share.

In January 2008, a debenture holder converted $88Gf debentures into common stock at a conversime of $2.75 per share
resulting in the issuance of 272,727 shares of comstock. The carrying value of the debenturetherdate of the conversion was
$676,607. Accordingly, we recognized the remairdebt discount of $73,393 as noash interest expense in connection with the cawme

In December 2009, we repaid our remaining princgmabunt of $2,750,000. For the year ended DeceBhe2009, we paid $220,000
interest associated with the principal amount.

Impact of Inflation, Changing Prices and Economic ©nditions

Pricing for many technology products and serviasehistorically decreased over time due to thectfdf product and process
improvements and enhancements. In addition, ecanoonditions can affect the buying patterns ofteosers. During most of 2010, the
impact of the long economic recession caused mboyroprospective customers to continue to eitteaytheir buying decision or to
purchase lower bandwidth services than normahdufition, the number of general pricing levelsifdernet services declined modestly
during the year. During the fourth quarter, custmsvmgan to increase their bandwidth purchaseshwhbgulted in a 24% increase in ARPU
of new customers compared to the average for thetfiree quarters of the year. In addition, theber of customer upgrades to higher
bandwidth, which also increases ARPU, increasenhbre than 80% during the second half of 2010 agpawed to the same period in 2009.
We believe that our customers will continue to @olgr their bandwidth service if economic conditionprove and their Internet requireme
increase. The continued migration of many busiaesigities and functions to the Internet, andghewing use of cloud computing, should
also result in increased bandwidth requirements theelong term.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assas it affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities, the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities, and the amounts of reveandsxpenses. Critical accounting policies arsdtibat require the application of
management’s most difficult, subjective or comglekgments, often because of the need to make dstmhout the effect of matters that are
inherently uncertain and that may change in subs®gqeeriods. In preparing the financial statememésutilized available information,
including our past history, industry standards #redcurrent economic environment, among other facto forming our estimates and
judgments, giving appropriate consideration to mialigy. Actual results may differ from these eséites. In addition, other companies n
utilize different estimates, which may impact tleenparability of our results of operations to otbempanies in our industry. We believe that
of our significant accounting policies, the follawgi may involve a higher degree of judgment andregton, or are fundamentally importan
our business.

Revenue Recognition.  We normally enter into contractual agreemeritl aur customers for periods ranging between ortaree
years. We recognize the total revenue provide@&uadontract ratably over the contract perioduitiog any periods under which we he
agreed to provide services at no cost. Deferreglmges are recognized as a liability when billiagsissued in advance of the date when
revenues are earned. We apply the revenue reamypiinciples set forth under Securities and ExgfgaCommission’s Staff Accounting
Bulletin 104, (“SAB 104") which provides for reveatio be recognized when (i) persuasive evidenes @frrangement exists, (ii) delivery or
installation has been completed, (iii) the custoawepts and verifies receipt, and (iv) collectgbis reasonably assured.

Long-Lived Assets . Long-lived assets with definitive lives congisimarily of property and equipment, and intangia$sets. Long-lived
assets are evaluated periodically for impairmentloenever events or circumstances indicate theiyicg value may not be recoverable.
Conditions that would result in an impairment cleainclude a significant decline in the fair valdfean asset, a significant change in the e;
or manner in which an asset is used, or a sigmifiadverse change that would indicate that the/teymamount of an asset or group of assets
is not recoverable. When such events or circumstaagdse, an estimate of the future undiscountsh ffaws produced by the asset, or the
appropriate grouping of assets, is compared tasket’s carrying value to determine if impairmerists. If the asset is determined to be
impaired, the impairment loss is measured basdtie@axcess of its carrying value over its fair ealdssets to be disposed of are reported at
the lower of their carrying value or net realizabédue.
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Goodwill.  Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pver the estimated fair value of identifiabtt assets acquired in an
acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized but ratliereviewed annually for impairment, or whenevegr@s or circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. A two-séspis performed at the reporting unit level teess goodwill for impairment. First, the
fair value of the reporting unit is compared tod#srying value. If the fair value exceeds the yiag value, the reporting unit is not impaired
and no further testing is performed. The seconplistperformed if the carrying value exceeds tlevaue. If the carrying value of the
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impaémh loss equal to the difference will be recorded.

Asset Retirement Obligations.  The Financial Accounting Standards Board's (“BASguidance on asset retirement obligations addr
financial accounting and reporting for obligati@ssociated with the retirement of tangible longdiassets and the associated costs. This
guidance requires the recognition of an asseeragnt obligation and an associated asset retireposhtvhen there is a legal obligation
associated with the retirement of tangible longdivassets. Our network equipment is installedath buildings in which we have a lease
agreement (“Company Locations”) and at customeations. In both instances, the installation amdaeal of our equipment is not
complicated and does not require structural chat@#®e building where the equipment is install€bsts associated with the removal of our
equipment at company or customer locations are@maderial, and accordingly, we have determinedwreatio not presently have asset
retirement obligations under the FASB’s accountinglance.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.  We have no off-balance sheet arrangements)dings, or other relationships with unconsolidated
entities known as “Special Purposes Entities.”

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The FASB has issued Accounting Standards Updat8¢’A 2010-29, “Business Combinations (Topic 805)sdbsure of
Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Businessfliaations.” This amendment affects any public entity as defimgd opic 805,
Business Combinations that enters into businesbitations that are material on an individual orraggte basis. The comparative financial
statements should present and disclose revenueaanithgs of the combined entity as though the lassitombination(s) that occurred during
the current year had occurred as of the beginniniggocomparable prior annual reporting period oiilye amendments also expand the
supplemental pro forma disclosures to include @mjetfon of the nature and amount of material, ®onrring pro forma adjustments directly
attributable to the business combination includethe reported pro forma revenue and earningsantendments are effective prospectively
for business combinations for which the acquisitiate is on or after the beginning of the firstw@drreporting period beginning on or after
December 15, 2010. The adoption of this standandig€xpected to have a material impact on ouraatated financial position and results
of operations.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-28afigtbles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): WherP&rform Step 2 of the
Goodwill Impairment Test for Reporting Units witkei® or Negative Carrying Amounts.” ASU 2010-28 niiedi Step 1 of the goodwill
impairment test for reporting units with zero ogasve carrying amounts by requiring an entity éofprm Step 2 of the goodwill impairment
test if it is more likely than not that a goodwitipairment exists. This update will be effective fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2010. The adoption of this standard is not expettdthve a material impact on our consolidatednfone position and results of operations.
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk.

Not applicable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Towerstream Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Towerstream Corporation and Subsidigitie “Company”) as of
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, and tedeconsolidated statements of operations, stidkhs’ equity and cash flows for the
years then ended. These financial statementhanesponsibility of the Compa’s management. Our responsibility is to expressgnion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thetgtmlobtain reasonable assurance about whethén#reial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of tesrival control over financial reporting.
Our audits included consideration of internal cohtiver financial reporting as a basis for desigrandit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of esgimg an opinion on the effectiveness of the Comlganternal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opiniém audit also includes examining, on a test hasiglence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessigccounting principles used and significannesttes made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement pregéma We believe that our audits provide a reabtmbasis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
Towerstream Corporation and Subsidiaries as of Deee 31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated sestitheir operations and their cash
flows for the years then ended, in conformity watttounting principles generally accepted in thedthStates of America.

/s/ Marcum LLP
Marcum LLP

New York, New York
March 17, 2011
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31

2010 2009
Assets
Current Asset
Cash and cash equivale $ 23,173,35 $ 14,040,83
Accounts receivable, n 482,85« 403,07:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 372,89! 258,30°
Total Current Asset 24,029,10 14,702,21
Property and equipment, r 15,266,05 13,634,68
Intangible assets, n 3,366,96! 975,00
Goodwill 1,724,57. -
Other assets 203,13. 190,80«
Total Assets $ 44,589,82 $ 29,502,70
Liabilities and Stockholders Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payabl $ 909,54¢ $ 1,055,80
Accrued expense 1,595,711 1,086,25!
Deferred revenue 1,000,01: 1,028,95:
Current maturities of capital lease obligati 88,61: -
Other 251,08! 78,88¢
Total Current Liabilities 3,844,98| 3,249,90:
Long-Term Liabilities
Capital lease obligations, net of current matusi 55,73t -
Derivative liabilities - 566,45:
Other 668,23: 275,18:
Total Long-Term Liabilities 723,96 841,63:
Total Liabilities 4,568,94 4,091,53
Commitments (Note 1¢€
Stockholders' Equit
Preferred stock, par value $0.001; 5,000,000 steart®rized; none issut - -
Common stock, par value $0.00%,0,000,000 shares authorized; 42,116,618 and 32B883hares
issued and outstanding, respectiv 42,11% 34,66:
Additional paic-in-capital 75,332,96 55,127,71
Accumulated deficit (35,354,20)  (29,751,20)
Total Stockholders' Equity 40,020,87 25,411,17
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 44,589,82 $ 29,502,70

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2010 2009
Revenues $ 19,645,89 $ 14,915,43
Operating Expense
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciati 4,887,88. 3,690,08!
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,770,33! 4,035,26'
Customer support servic 2,549,61! 2,132,96!
Sales and marketir 5,088,08! 5,545,71.
General and administrative 7,398,42 6,943,08
Total Operating Expenses 25,694,33 22,347,12.
Operating Loss (6,048,44.) (7,431,68)
Other Income/(Expensi
Interest incom 4,411 26,60¢
Interest expens (489 (740,409
Gain on business acquisiti 355,87t -
Loss on derivative financial instrumel - (478,54
Other income (expense), net 85,63¢ (1,217)
Total Other Income/(Expense) 445,43t (1,193,56)
Net Loss $ (5,603,00) $ (8,625,25
Net loss per common share — basic and diluted $ (0.16) $ (0.25)
Weighted average common shares outstanding — dadidiluted 35,626,78 34,606,79

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance at January 1, 20
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principlanuary 1, 2009
reclassification of equity-linked financial instremts to derivative

Issuance of common stock for bonu
Cashless exercise of optio
Stoclk-based compensatic

Balance at December 31, 20
Issuance of common stock for bonu

Issuance of common stock for servi

Cashless exercise of optio

Exercise of option

Stocl-based compensatic

Reclassification of derivative liabilities to equitnked financial

Balance at December 31, 2010

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In- Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

34,587,85 $ 34,58t $ 54,851,75 $  (21,879,14) 33,007,19
(526,92)) 753,19 226,26t
32,681 32 42,49; 42,52¢
41,68¢ 42 (42 -
760,43: 760,43:
(8,625,25I) (8,625,25I)
34,662,22' 34,66 55,127,711 (29,751,20) 25,411,17
9,22t 9 17,24: 17,25(
Issuance of common stock for business acquisi 687,22: 687 1,914,91: 1,915,59:
Net proceeds from issuance of common s 6,571,42! 6,572 16,951,36 16,957,93
66,07t 66 104,99: 105,06¢(
119,10 11¢ (119 -
1,33¢ 2 91€ 92(C
649,50: 649,50:
566,45 566,45
(5,603,00) (5,603,00)
42,116,61 $ 42,117 $ 75,33296 $  (35,354,20) 40,020,87.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby (used in) operating activitie
Provision for doubtful accoun
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stoclk-based compensatic
Gain of business acquisitic
Accretion of debt discour
Amortization of financing cosi
Loss on sale and disposition of property and egaipt
Deferred ren
Loss on derivative financial instrumer
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Other current liabilitie
Deferred revenues

Total Adjustments
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisitions of property and equipme
Acquisition of Sparkplug Chicago, In
Acquisition of Pipeline Wireless LL!
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn
Acquisition of FCC licens
Change in security deposits

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Repayment of capital leas
Repayment of shc-term debr
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of opt
Net proceeds from sale of common stock
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Financing Activitie:

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash and Cash Equivalex

Cash and Cash Equivalent— Beginning of year
Cash and Cash Equivalents — Ending of year

For the Years Ended December 3

2010 2009
$ (5,603,000 $ (8,625,25)
154,12: 78,73¢
5,770,33! 4,035,26
771,81 802,95t
(355,87¢) -
: 456,77

- 60,19:
74,53: 57,41
(78,889 (52,559
- 478,54
45,61 (202,41
(30,88%) 82€
(200,37¢) (338,675)
509,45 224,86t
(9,725 -
(453,31, 43,54
6,196,80" 5,645,49;
593,80: (2,979,75)
(5,659,70) (4,848,24))
(1,170,001 -
(1,580,061 -
- 11,65¢

: (100,000
(3,250) (7,740)
(8,413,01) (4,944,32)
(7,130 (25,34¢)
- (2,750,001

92¢ -
16,957,93 -
16,951,72 (2,775,341
9,132,51: (10,699,42)
14,040,83 24,740,26
$ 23,173,35 14,040,83

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — CONTINUED

For the Years Ended December 3

2010 2009

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informatiol
Cash paid during the periods fi

Interest $ 48¢ $ 277,38.

Taxes $ 12,26 $ 12,56
Non-cash investing and financing activiti¢

Fair value of common stock issued in connectiomaitquisitions $ 1,91559 $ -

Acquisition of property and equipment under cagd&abke obligations $ 152,16 $ S

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Organization and Nature of Business

Towerstream Corporation (referred to as “Towertné or the “Company”) was formed on December 1B99, and was incorporated
in Delaware. The Company provides broadband sesvic commercial customers and delivers accesssow@eless network transmitting
over both regulated and unregulated radio spectrdiine Company’s service supports bandwidth on deinaireless redundancy, virtual
private networks (“VPNs”"), disaster recovery, bgtitlata and video services. The Company providgiedo business customers in New
York City, Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, San Fraoagj Seattle, Miami, Dallas-Fort Worth, Philadetpiiashville, Providence and
Newport, Rhode Islanc

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Poligs

Basis of Presentation. The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of the Company and its whodyned subsidiaries. A
intercompany balances and transactions have baeimaied in consolidation

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in camfty with accounting principles generally accepitethe United
States of America requires management to make atiand assumptions that affect the reported aimofiassets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiesl #ie amounts of revenues and expenses. Actudlgesuld differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investisenith a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subje& @ompany to significant concentrations of creigdk r
consist of cash and cash equivalents. At timescash and cash equivalents may be uninsureddegosit accounts that exceed the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurangeits. As of December 31, 2010, the Company had aadttash equivalent balances of
approximately $15,158,000 in excess of the fedem#ured limit of $250,000. Under the FDIC'’s Tran8on Account Guarantee (“TAG")
program, noninterest-bearing transaction deposi@uts have full federal deposit insurance covetagrigh December 31, 2012. The
Company has one noninterest-bearing transactioositegccount totaling approximately $500,000 teatdvered under the TAG program.

The Company also had approximately $7,765,000 tedes three institutional money market funds. Séh&unds are protected under the
Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIPCa nonprofit membership corporation which prasdimited coverage up to $500,000.

Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable are stated at cost lesdlawance for doubtful accounts. The allowancedoubtful accoun
reflects the Company’s estimate of accounts rebévtnat will be not collected. The allowance &séd on the history of past write-offs, the
aging of balances, collections experience and otimedit conditions. Amounts determined to bedllectible are written-off against the
allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowancedoubtful accounts was $118,825 at December 310 20d $88,299 at December 31,
2009. Additions to the allowance for doubtful asets, e.g. provision for bad debt, totaled $154,428 $78,736 for 2010 and 2009,
respectively. Deductions to the allowance for dfullaccounts, e.g. customer write-offs, totale@%$597 and $57,087 for 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost andde@qguipment, installation costs and materials.r&=ation
is calculated on a straight-line basis over thareged useful lives of the assets. Leasehold ingrmnts are amortized over the lesser of the
useful lives or the term of the respective leasstwdrk, base station and customer premise equiparerdepreciated over estimated useful
lives ranging from 5 to 7 years; furniture, fixtarand other from 3 to 7 years; computer equipntent f3 to 5 years and system software over
3 years.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs, whichat@enerally extend the useful life of the assmts,charged to expense as incurred.
Gains or losses on disposal of property and equipie reflected in general and administrative agps in the statement of operations.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTIN UED

FCC Licenses Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) licenaee initially recorded at cost and are considévdz intangible
assets with an indefinite life because the Comgsuaple to maintain the license indefinitely asg@s it complies with certain FCC
requirements. The Company intends to and has demaded an ability to maintain compliance with suetuirements. The Financial
Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) guidance aodwill and other intangible assets states thatsset with an indefinite useful life is
not amortized. However, as further described értéxt paragraph, these assets are reviewed anfaralinpairment.

Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets with definitive lives congistmarily of property and equipment, and intangia$sets. Long-lived
assets are evaluated periodically for impairmentyltenever events or circumstances indicate tlaeiying value may not be recoverable.
Conditions that would result in an impairment cleairclude a significant decline in the fair valdfeaa asset, a significant change in the e;
or manner in which an asset is used, or a sigmifiadverse change that would indicate that the/tayamount of an asset or group of assets
is not recoverable. When such events or circumstaadse, an estimate of the future undiscountsk taws produced by the asset, or the
appropriate grouping of assets, is compared tasket’s carrying value to determine if impairmerists. If the asset is determined to be
impaired, the impairment loss is measured basdtie@pxcess of its carrying value over its fair ealdssets to be disposed of are reported at
the lower of their carrying value or net realizabédue.

The Company has determined that there were no impats of its property and equipment or its inthleggassets during the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009.

The FASB's guidance on asset retirement obligatamidresses financial accounting and reporting idigations associated with the
retirement of tangible lonived assets and the associated costs. This gredaaquires the recognition of an asset retirerokligation and a
associated asset retirement cost when there gahdbligation associated with the retirement afjible long-lived assets. The Company’s
network equipment is installed on both buildingsvinich the Company has a lease agreement (“Comipacgtions”) and at customer
locations. In both instances, the installation serdoval of the Company’s equipment is not compdidaand does not require structural
changes to the building where the equipment isilest. Costs associated with the removal of then@my’s equipment at company or
customer locations are not material, and accorgjrige Company has determined that it does noeptBshave asset retirement obligations
under the FASB'’s accounting guidance.

Goodwill.  Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pver the estimated fair value of identifiabts assets acquired in an
acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized but ratliereviewed annually for impairment, or whenevegrs or circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. A two-séspis performed at the reporting unit level teess goodwill for impairment. First, the
fair value of the reporting unit is compared tod#srying value. If the fair value exceeds the yiag value, the reporting unit is not impaired
and no further testing is performed. The seconglistperformed if the carrying value exceeds tlievaue. If the carrying value of the
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, an impaémh loss equal to the difference will be recorded.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The Company has categorized its financial assetdialnilities measured at fair value into a three-
level hierarchy in accordance with the FASBuidance. Fair value is defined as an exit ptleeamount that would be received upon the
of an asset or paid upon the transfer of a lighbititan orderly transaction between market pardiotp at the measurement date. The degree o
judgment utilized in measuring the fair value odets and liabilities generally correlates to thel®f pricing observability. Financial ass
and liabilities with readily available, actively oped prices or for which fair value can be meastireth actively quoted prices in active
markets generally have more pricing observabilitg eequire less judgment in measuring fair valGenversely, financial assets and
liabilities that are rarely traded or not quotedéess price observability and are generally mesbat fair value using valuation models that
require more judgment. These valuation techniguesve some level of management estimation andreht, the degree of which is
dependent on the price transparency of the asagtity or market and the nature of the assetalility. See Note 15 for a further discussion
regarding the Company’s measurement of financedtasand liabilities at fair value.

Income Taxes. Income taxes are accounted for under the asddtadnility method. Deferred tax assets and litib# are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to diffees between the financial statement carrying atsafrexisting assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases, and operating lossaandredit carryforwards. Deferred tax assetslafulities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in tlaesyim which those temporary differences are exgukeitt be recovered or settled. The effect
on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a chandax rates is recognized in operations in thégoeenacted. A valuation allowance is
provided when it is more likely than not that atpor or all of a deferred tax asset will not belimal. The ultimate realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent upon the generation of fuiMedle income and the reversal of deferred taxili@ls during the period in which related
temporary differences become deductible. The beokfax positions taken or expected to be taken in the Gmy's income tax returns are
recognized in the consolidated financial statemiérstsch positions are more likely than not of lgegustained.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

Segment Information. The FASB has established standards for reportifogritation on operating segments of an enterprisetarim
and annual financial statements. The Company tggena one segment which is the business of progidroadband services. The
Company'’s chief operating decision-maker revieves@ompany’s operating results on an aggregate badisnanages the Company’s
operations as a single operating segment.

Revenue Recognition. The Company normally enters into contractual egrents with its customers for periods ranging betwane to
three years. The Company recognizes the totahtevprovided under a contract ratably over theraghperiod, including any periods under
which the Company has agreed to provide servicae abst. The Company applies the revenue redogrptinciples set forth under SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, (“SAB 104”) which gvides for revenue to be recognized when (i) paisesevidence of an arrangement
exists, (ii) delivery or installation has been coeted, (iii) the customer accepts and verifies igc@and (iv) collectability is reasonably
assured.

Deferred Revenues.  Customers are billed monthly in advance. Defénrevenues are recognized for that portion of hgrtharges nc
yet earned as of the end of the reporting perddferred revenues are also recognized for certatomers who pay for their services
advance.

Advertising Costs. The Company charges advertising costs to expense@sed. Advertising costs for the years endeddbaber 31,
2010 and 2009 were approximately $962,000 and $089respectively, and are included in sales andtetiag expenses in the statement
operations.

Sock-Based Compensation. The Company accounts for stock-based awardsdgsuemployees in accordance with FASB guidance.
Such awards primarily consist of options to purehsisares of common stock. The fair value of stased awards is determined on the grant
date using a valuation model. The fair value tOgmized as compensation expense, net of estif@atfieitures, on a straight line basis over
the service period, which is normally the vestirgiqd.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Share. Basic and diluted net loss per share has beenlatddiby dividing net loss by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding dtivingeriod. All potentially dilutive common shatesve been excluded since their
inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

The following common stock equivalents were exctltem the computation of diluted net loss per canmhare because they were
anti-dilutive. The exercise of these common steglivalents would dilute earnings per shares ifGbepany becomes profitable in the
future. The exercise of the outstanding stockamystiand warrants could generate proceeds up toxipmtely $25,618,000.

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009
Stock options 3,706,88! 3,738,63!
Warrants 4,332,31l 4,332,31l
Total 8,039,19! 8,070,94

Reclassifications. Certain accounts in the prior year consolidatedricial statements have been reclassified for epatiye purposes to
conform to the presentation in the current yeasobidated financial statements. These reclassifica have no effect on the previously
reported net loss.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. The FASB has issued Accounting Standards Upda®&(”) 2010-29, “Business Combinations
(Topic 805): Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Fofnfarmation for Business Combinations.This amendment affects any public entity as
defined by Topic 805, Business Combinations th&trsrinto business combinations that are matenaroindividual or aggregate basis. The
comparative financial statements should present#uiose revenue and earnings of the combinetyegithough the business combination
(s) that occurred during the current year had aecuas of the beginning of the comparable priowahreporting period only. The
amendments also expand the supplemental pro foisnlsures to include a description of the natume @mount of material, nonrecurring
pro forma adjustments directly attributable to isiness combination included in the reported prmé revenue and earnings. The
amendments are effective prospectively for busigessbinations for which the acquisition date isoorafter the beginning of the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after December2lB,0. The adoption of this standard is not expktiéave a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial position and ressof operations.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-28atigtbles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): WherP&rform Step 2 of the
Goodwill Impairment Test for Reporting Units witkei® or Negative Carrying Amounts”. ASU 2010-28 niiedi Step 1 of the goodwill
impairment test for reporting units with zero ogatve carrying amounts by requiring an entity éofprm Step 2 of the goodwill impairment
test if it is more likely than not that a goodwitipairment exists. This update will be effective figcal years beginning after December 15,
2010. The adoption of this standard is not expeitidthve a material impact on the Company’s codatéd financial position and results of
operations.

Subsequent Events. Subsequent events have been evaluated throaglata of this filing.
Note 3. Business Acquisitions
Acquisition of Sparkplug Chicago, Inc

On April 15, 2010, the Company completed the adtioiisof the customer contracts, network infrastime and related assets of the
Chicago, Illinois and Nashville, Tennessee netwafkSparkplug Chicago, Inc. (“Sparkplug”). Theyaisition expanded the Company’s
presence in the Chicago market and introduced Niéshtennessee as the Company'shhiarket nationally. The Company obtained full
control of Sparkplug in the acquisition.

The Company has determined that the acquisitiddpafkplug was a business combination to be accddoteinder the acquisition
method. The following table summarizes the consiilen transferred and the amounts of identifiese&sacquired and liabilities assumed at
the acquisition date:

Fair value of consideration transferr:

Cash $ 1,170,001
Common stock (275,700 shares) 430,00(
1,600,00!

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acqainediabilities assume:
Customer contraci 1,483,00!
Property and equipme 591,59(
Accounts receivabl 85,38’
Security deposit 3,40(
Prepaid expense 844
Accounts payabl (23,909
Deferred revenue (184,447
Total identifiable net assets 1,955,87!
Gain on business acquisition $ 355,87t

The Company recognized a $355,876 gain on the éssiacquisition as a result of Sparkplug Chicagn,being sold at a discounted
price due to the realignment of its geographic retrky its parent company, Sparkplug Inc. The gaibusiness acquisition is included in
other income (expense) in the Company’s consolilstatements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coyipanrred approximately $282,000 of third-partystsoin connection with the
Sparkplug acquisition. These expenses are inclidtite general and administrative expenses ifCthrapany’s consolidated statements of
operations.

Acquisition of Pipeline Wireless, LLC

On December 15, 2010, the Company completed théisatign of Pipeline Wireless, LLC (“Pipeline”).The acquisition strengthened i
expanded the Company’s presence in the Boston mafke Company obtained full control of Pipelinehe acquisition.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

The Company has determined that the acquisitid?ipdline was a business combination to be accodatathder the acquisition
method. The following table summarizes the consitilen transferred and the amounts of identifiesbssacquired and liabilities assumed at
the acquisition date:

Fair value of consideration transferr:

Cash $ 1,580,06!
Common stock (411,523 shart 1,485,59
Deferred payment 613,64¢
Capital lease obligations assumed 152,16«
3,831,46i

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acqainediabilities assume
Customer contraci 1,864,18
Property and equipme 266,34!
Accounts receivabl 194,13
Security deposit 6,36:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 86,24(
Accounts payabl (30,219
Deferred revenu (239,939
Other current liabilities (40,217
Total identifiable net assets 2,106,89
Goodwill $ 1,724,57.

The Company allocated the purchase price of Pipétiridentifiable assets acquired and liabilitissiamed based of their fair values on
the date of acquisition. The Company recognize@21,571 of goodwill related to the acquisition, @hhirepresents the excess of the purc
price over the estimated fair values of the idédiiE net assets. The Company expects the fulhbalaf goodwill to be tax deductible for tax
purposes.

Deferred payments totaling $768,869 will be madBifeline beginning in June 2011 in 36 monthlyafistents of $21,357. Total gross
payments of $768,869 were discounted at a 12%arateecorded at $613,646 for acquisition purpdSasient and londerm balances total
$136,439 and $477,207 at December 31, 2010, regplgct

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coyipanrred approximately $337,000 of third-partystsoin connection with the
Pipeline acquisition. These expenses are inclidéte general and administrative expenses in tiragany’s consolidated statements of
operations.

Pro Forma Information

The following table reflects the unaudited pro faroonsolidated results of operations had the Spagkand Pipeline acquisitions taken
place at the beginning of the 2010 and 2009 periods

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009
Revenue! $ 21,864,36 $ 18,339,66
Amortization expens 2,587,041 2,587,041
Total operating expens 28,307,06 26,443,24
Net loss (5,997,261 (9,297,14)
Basic net loss per shs $ 0.179) $ (0.27)

The pro forma information presented above doepuariort to present what actual results would haenthad the acquisitions actually
occurred at the beginning of 2009, nor does tharimétion project results for any future period.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

Note 4. Property and Equipment, net
The Company’s property and equipment, net is cosedrdf:

December 31

2010 2009
Network and base station equipm $ 16,278,96 $ 13,282,56
Customer premise equipme 12,496,06 9,324,44.
Furniture, fixtures and oth 1,541,67! 1,525,98!
Computer equipmet 683,07: 610,84°
System softwar 833,10¢ 819,30!
Leasehold improvements 775,42( 775,42(

32,608,30 26,338,56
Less: accumulated depreciation 17,342,25 12,703,87.

$ 15,266,05 $ 13,634,68

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@030 and 2009 was $4,815,113 and $4,035,27ectgely. The Company sold
or disposed of property and equipment with $254 @febst and $176,741 of accumulated depreciatiothie year ended December 31,
2010. The Company sold or disposed of propertyegndpment with $315,264 of cost and $246,192 ofiawilated depreciation for the year
ended December 31, 2009.

Property held under capital leases included withehnCompany’s property and equipment consistsefdhowing:

December 31,

2010 2009
Network and base station equipm $ 92,83t $ 168,44
Customer premise equipment 59,32¢ -
152,16¢ 168,44:
Less: accumulated depreciation 1,26¢ 130,51!
$ 150,89¢ $ 37,92¢

During 2009, the Company finished making lease gaysion property held under capital leases wittbaggvalue of $168,441 and
accumulated depreciation of $130,515. The Compéaitsirmed clear title to the equipment, and accollgirig no longer reporting these assets
as property held under capital leases.

Note 5. Intangible Assets, net

The Company'’s intangible assets, net are compdééte following:

December 31

2010 2009
Customer contraci $ 3,347,18 $ -
FCC licenses 975,00( 975,00(
4,322,18 975,00(
Less: accumulated amortization 955,22; -
$ 3,366,96! $ 975,00(

Amortization expense for year ended December 310 2as $955,222. The Company is amortizing théoousr contracts acquired in
the Sparkplug acquisition over a 14 month periodl the customer contracts acquired in the Pipelaogiigition over a 17 month period. As
of December 31, 2010, the average remaining anatidiz period was 11 months. Future amortizatioreasp of intangible assets is expected
to be approximately $1,899,000 for 2011 and $49Bf002012. No amortization expense is expectdukteecognized after 2012.

As further described in Note 2, FCC licenses atesnbject to amortization as they have an indefingeful life.

38




TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

Note 6. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31

2010 2009

Payroll and relate $ 595,71( $ 430,36(
Property and equipme 338,76 140,56¢
Professional service 325,48! 157,15:
Network 111,05! 57,68¢
Marketing 65,89¢ 79,02¢
Offering costs 55,00( -
Penalties - 95,72¢
Other 103,80! 125,74:

Total $ 1,595,711 $ 1,086,25!

Network expenses consist of expenses directlya@ltt providing services to our customers.
Note 7. Debt

In January 2007, the Company issued $3,500,000wdénior convertible debentures (the “Debentuje¥he Debentures matured on
December 31, 2009 and were convertible, in wholia @art, into shares of common stock at an iné@lversion price of $2.75 per share. In
addition, holders of the Debentures received wasrampurchase an aggregate of 636,364 sharesrohoa stock at an exercise price of
$4.00 per share and warrants to purchase an aggreis36,364 shares of common stock at an exepeise of $6.00 per share. These
warrants are exercisable until January 2012 ane wa&iculated using the Black-Scholes option priciraglel. The proceeds were allocated
between the warrants ($526,927) and the Deben{$2e373,073) based on their relative fair valu€le initial, discounted carrying value of
the Debentures of $2,973,073 was accreted to therityavalue over the term of the Debentures. @hmunt of accretion recorded in each
period was recognized as non-cash interest expense.

In January 2008, a Debenture holder converted $©80f Debentures into common stock at a convergime of $2.75 per share
resulting in the issuance of 272,727 shares of comstock. On December 31, 2009, the maturity dateCompany paid $2,750,000 to the
holder of all outstanding Debentures.

As further described in Note 8, a new accountiagdard became effective on January 1, 2009 retatdte accounting for derivative
financial instruments indexed to a company’s ovatlst In connection with its implementation, then@imany was required to classify the
conversion feature of the Debentures and the wisriasued with the Debentures as derivative ligddli The cumulative effect of adopting
this standard resulted in a decrease in the cgrmatue of the Debentures as of January 1, 2068 $8,607,395 to $2,293,222. Interest
expense totaled $676,778 during the year endedmbeme31, 2009 and included $220,000 associatedth&ti®% coupon and $456,778
associated with accretion of the discount.

In connection with the Debentures, the Companyriecliplacement agent fees totaling approximate#0¥I00 and issued placement
agent warrants to purchase up to 63,636 sharesnwihon stock at an exercise price of $4.50 per sfdwe warrants are exercisable for five
years and were valued at $34,750 using the I-Scholes pricing model. These financing costs vaenertized ratably through December 31,
20009.

Note 8. Derivative Liabilities

In June 2008, the FASB issued an accounting stdnétated to the accounting for derivative finahaiatruments indexed to a
company’s own stock. Under this standard, instntsherhich do not have fixed settlement provisiorsdeemed to be derivative
instruments. The fair value of these liabilitisgé-measured at the end of every reporting pevitidthe change in value reported in the
statement of operations.
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Certain of the Company’s warrants did not initidilgve fixed settlement provisions because theiroése price could have been lowered
if the Company had issued securities at lower pr{teset provisions”). Accordingly, these warsantere initially reported as derivative
liabilities. As of January 1, 2010, the reset jgmns were no longer applicable and the warramiewletermined to have fixed settlement
provisions. As a result, the fair value of the raats were reclassified to equity as of Januag010.

The derivative liabilities were valued using the&t-Scholes option pricing model and the followasgumptions:

December 31, 20C January 1, 200¢ January 18, 200

Debenture conversion featu

Risk-free interest rat 0.4% 4.7%
Expected volatility 74% 60%
Expected life (in years 1 3
Expected dividend yiel - -
Warrants:
Risk-free interest rat 1.1% 1.C% 4.7%
Expected volatility 86% 74% 60%
Expected life (in years 2 3 3
Expected dividend yiel - - -
Fair value:
Debenture conversion featt $ - 3 11,83¢ $ 856,02!
Warrants $ 566,45. $ 76,06¢ $ 620,31¢

The riskfree interest rate was based on rates establishttbb-ederal Reserve. Effective in the first ¢graof 2008, the Company bas
expected volatility on the historical volatilityrfits common stock. Previously, the Company’snested volatility was based on the volatility
of publicly-traded peers. The expected life of Erebenturestonversion option was based on the maturity oftbbentures and the expec
life of the warrants was based on their full terithe expected dividend yield of zero was based dpetfiact that the Company has not
historically paid dividends, and does not expegiayp dividends in the future.

This new standard was implemented in the first guanf 2009 and is reported as the cumulative effiéa change in accounting
principle. The cumulative effect on the accounfimgthe conversion feature and the warrants aaofiary 1, 2009 was as follows:

Derivative Additional Accumulated Derivative

Instrument Paid-In-Capital Deficit Liability Debenture
Conversion featur $ - $ (277,53) $ (11,839 $ 289,36
Warrants $ 526,92 $ (475,669 $ (76,069 $ 24,80:
Total $ 526,92 $ (753,19) $ (87,900 $ 314,17:

The warrants were originally recorded at theirtreéafair value as an increase in additional paigddpital. Changes in the accumulated
deficit upon the adoption of the new standard idel§635,241 of interest expense associated withdbeetion of additional discount
recognized on the Debenture and $1,388,434 in gamsting from decreases in the fair value ofdhavative liabilities through December
31, 2008. The derivative liability amounts refléoe fair value of each derivative instrument athefJanuary 1, 2009 date of implementat
The Debenture amounts represent the additionabdigaecorded upon adoption of this new standaditds discount was recognized in 2009
as additional interest expense.

On December 31, 2009, the Company repaid the Detent Therefore, as of December, 31, 2009, thesene value associated with the
debenture conversion feature.
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Note 9. Capital Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000 stdne=ferred stock at a par value of $0.001. &heere no issuances of preferred
stock as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respegtivel

The Company is authorized to issue 70,000,000 shefreommon stock at a par value of $0.001. Thddrslof common stock are
entitled to one vote per share. The holders ofraomstock are entitled to receive ratably suchddinds, if any, as may be declared by the
board of directors out of legally available funtdigon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, theltders of the Company’s common stock are
entitled to share ratably in all assets that agallg available for distribution. The holders okét€@ompany’s common stock have no
preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversights. The rights, preferences and privilegesadfiérs of the Company’s common stock
are subject to, and may be adversely affectedhigyrights of the holders of any series of prefestedk, which may be designated solely by
action of the board of directors and issued inftiere.

In November 2010, the Company adopted a sharehoges plan (the “Rights Plan”). The purposeldd Rights Plan is to protect the
long-term value of the Company for its sharehol@derd to protect shareholders from various abusikedver tactics. Under the Rights Plan,
the Company issued one preferred share purchasdaigeach of the Company's common stock heldhayeholders of record as of the close
of business on November 24, 2010. In generalighes would become exercisable if a person or graeguires 15% or more of the
Company’s common stock or announces a tender offekchange offer for 15% or more of the Compawpisimon stock. Each holder of a
right will be allowed to purchase one one-hundrexta share of a newly created series of the Cogipgmeferred shares at an exercise price
of $18.00. The rights will expire on Novembe2820. The Company may redeem the rights for $0e@@h at any time until the tenth
business day following public announcement thagraqn or group has acquired 15% or more of itstandéng common stock.

In 2010, 9,225 shares of common stock were issmeaécutive officers as part of their quarterly bees. The Company recognized
compensation expense totaling $17,250, which repted the fair value of the shares on the datesofaince. In 2009, 32,687 shares of
common stock were issued to executive officersaasqs their quarterly bonuses. The Company retzaghcompensation expense totaling
$42,525, which represented the fair value of trerehon the date of issuance.

During 2010, stock options were exercised on aleastbasis by current or former employees to psehaotal of 361,950 shares,
resulting in the issuance of 119,104 shares. QWRD0N9, stock options were exercised on a cashksis by current or former employees to
purchase a total of 144,177 shares, resultingangsuance of 41,688 shares. Under a cashlessssdhe holder uses a portion of the shares
that would otherwise be issuable upon exerciskerdahan cash, as consideration for the exerdibe. amount of net shares issuable in
connection with a cashless exercise will vary basethe exercise price of the option or warrant garad to the current market price of the
Company’s common stock on the date of exercise.

During 2010, stock options were exercised on a basks by a current employee to purchase a tothB33 shares at an exercise price of
$0.69 per share.

In April 2010, the Company issued 275,700 shareofmon stock to Sparkplug as part of the consiergaid for the acquisition. T
fair value of the common stock issued was $430,000.

In November 2010, the Company issued 6,571,42%sharcommon stock in connection with an underemitffering at $2.80 per sha
resulting in gross proceeds of $18,400,000. The g2y incurred costs of approximately $1,440,008teel to this underwritten offering.

In December 2010, the Company issued 411,523 sbammsnmon stock to Pipeline as part of the consiiilen paid for the acquisition.
The fair value of the common stock issued was 35, 588.

Note 10. Share-Based Compensation

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation ntodedlue options granted to employees, directodscamsultants. Compensation
expense, including the effect of forfeitures, isagnized over the period of service, generallywiisting period. Stock-based compensation
for the amortization of stock options granted urtierCompany’s stock option plans totaled $649&02 $760,431 for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Shaded compensation is included in general and astnsitive expenses in the accompan!
consolidated statements of operations.
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The unamortized amount of stock options expensepsé6,898 as of December 31, 2010 which will begeized over a weighted-
average period of 1.99 years.

The fair values of stock option grants were cat@mdan the dates of grant using the Bl&wdtioles option pricing model and the follow
weighted average assumptions:

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009
Risk-free interest rat 1.0%- 3.2% 0.2%- 2.€%
Expected volatility 73% 79%- 88%
Expected life (in years 2.5-6.1 0.1-6.8
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0%

The risk-free interest rate was based on rateblesiad by the Federal Reserve. The Company’s ¢éegeolatility was based upon the
historical volatility for its common stock. Thepected life of the Company’s options was determumgidg the simplified method as a result
of limited historical data regarding the Comparggsivity. The dividend yield is based upon thet that the Company has not historically
paid dividends, and does not expect to pay dividéndhe future.

The Company recorded additional stock-based conapiensrelated to the issuance of common stock ézetive officers as a part of
their bonus programs, which totaled $17,250 and3@®for the years ended December 31, 2010 and, 26§%ectively. Total shares issued
to executive officers were 9,225 and 32,687 forythars ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respgctive

In the third quarter of 2010, the Company recorstedk-based compensation related to the issuanoenainon stock to a third party for
services rendered. The fair value of the commocksissued was $105,060. The total shares issuipdraof this consideration was 66,075.

Note 11. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has established a 401(k) retirement(01(k) plan”) which covers all eligible emplag®who have attained the age of
twenty-one and have completed 30 days of employm@htthe Company. The Company can elect to mafctowa certain amount of
employees’ contributions to the 401(k) plan. Ngéoyger contributions were made during the yearsedridecember 31, 2010 and 2009.

Note 12. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes using the statuteegeral tax rate as compared to the Company’steféetax rate is summarized as
follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2010 2009
Federal statutory ra: (34.0% (34.0%
State taxe (6.0)% (6.0%
Permanent difference (0.9% 3.€%
Valuation allowance 40.4% 36.1%
Effective tax rate 0.C% 0.C%

The Company files income tax returns for Towerstré2orporation and its subsidiaries in the Uniteaté&t with the Internal Revenue
Service and with various state jurisdictions. A®ecember 31, 2010, the tax returns for Towerstr€orporation for the years 2007 through
2010 remain open to examination by the InternaldRere Service and various state authorities.
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Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of thkofeing:

For the Years Ended December 31

2010 2009

Net operating loss carryforwa $ 12,894,08 $ 11,134,91
Stocl-based compensatic 1,074,191 894,42(
Intangible asset 359,11 -
Allowance for doubtful accoun 47,53( 35,32(
Other 24.,17( 16,19¢
Total deferred tax asse 14,399,08 12,080,84
Valuation allowance (12,986,73) (10,725,06)

Net deferred tax asse 1,412,35. 1,355,77!
Depreciatior (1,412,359 (1,301,22)
Intangible assets - (54,55¢6)

Deferred tax liabilities (1,412,35) (1,355,77)

Net $ - $ -

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adoptedr&@B’s guidance on accounting for uncertainty icoime taxes. In accordance with
this guidance, interest costs and related penattlated to unrecognized tax benefits are requvdik calculated, if applicable. No interest
and penalties were recorded during the years eDdedmber 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. As akeber 31, 2010 and 2009, no
liability for unrecognized tax benefits was reqdite be recorded.

NOL Limitations

The Company'’s utilization of net operating lossNOL ") carryforwards is subject to an annual liation due to ownership changes that
have occurred previously or that could occur inftitare as provided in Section 382 of the IntefRavenue Code of 1986, as well as similar
state and foreign provisions. In general, an oglmprchange, as defined by Section 382, resulis fransactions increasing the ownership of
certain stockholders in the stock of a corporalipmore than fifty percentage points over a threaryperiod. Since its formation, the
Company has raised capital through the issuancepifal stock and various convertible instrumerttécty, combined with the purchasing
shareholderssubsequent disposition of these shares, has résultsn ownership change as defined by Section &82also could result in
ownership change in the future upon subsequenbsiispn.

The annual NOL limitation is determined by first ltiplying the value of the Company’s stock at thed of ownership change by the
applicable long-term tax exempt rate, and could the subject to additional adjustments, as requieg limitation may result in expiration
of a portion of the NOL carryforwards before utfion.

The Company has not utilized any of its NOL carryfards as it has never reported taxable income Qdmpany has applied a full
valuation allowance against deferred tax asseasa@to its NOL carryforwards. The Company had NOLapproximately $32,235,000 and
$27,809,000 for the years ended December 31, 20d @@09, respectively. Federal NOLs will begin exy in 2027. State NOLs will begin
expiring in 2012.

Valuation Allowance

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax ssd¢bhe Company has considered whether it is niloey[than not that some portion or all
of the deferred tax assets will not be realizede Whimate realization of deferred tax assets geddent upon the generation of future taxable
income during the periods in which those tempodifferences become deductible. In making this dheiteaition, under the applicable
financial reporting standards, the Company is afldwo consider the scheduled reversal of defemedidbilities, projected future taxable
income, and tax planning strategies. A full valoatallowance has been recorded for the deferredgset balance as of December 31, 2010
and 2009. The change in valuation allowance wad6i2663 and $3,109,343, respectively for the yeaded December 31, 2010 and 2009.
A valuation allowance will be maintained until Saiént positive evidence exists to support the reakof any portion or all of the valuation
allowance.

43




TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS- CONTINU ED

Note 13. Stock Option Plans

In January 2007, the Company adopted the 2007 ¥EQuinpensation Plan (the “2007 Plan”). The 2@&n provides for the issuance
of options, stock appreciation rights, restrictaatk, restricted stock units, bonus shares andieid equivalents to officers and other
employees, consultants and directors of the Compdhyg total number of shares of common stock tsguander the 2007 Plan is 2,403,922.
A total of 2,112,974 stock options or common sthak been issued under the 2007 Plan as of Dece&tp2010.

In May 2007, the Board of Directors approved thepdithn of the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan which pdaa for the issuance of up to
2,500,000 shares of common stock in the form abagtor restricted stock (the “2007 Incentive $tédan™). The 2007 Incentive Stock Pl
was approved by the Company’s stockholders in M33/72 A total of 1,453,053 stock options or commtmtk has been issued under the
2007 Incentive Stock Plan as of December 31, 2010.

Options granted under both the 2007 Plan and th& Bfcentive Plan have terms up to ten years améearcisable at a price per share
not less than the fair value of the underlying camratock on the date of grant. The total numbeshafes of common stock that remain
available for issuance as of December 31, 2010nthée2007 Plan and the 2007 Incentive Stock Pdemnbined is 1,337,895 shares.

In August 2008, the Company’s stockholders apprdliechdoption of the 2008 Non-Employee Directorsn@ensation Plan (the “2008
Directors Plan”).Under the 2008 Directors Plan, an aggregate of0l000 shares have been reserved for issuancef Pacember 31, 201
400,000 stock options or common stock have beeedsander this plan. Options granted under th& Zeectors Plan have terms of up to
five years and are exercisable at a price per slwual to the fair value of the underlying commtotk on the date of grant.

Transactions under the stock option plans duriegyfars ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 werdl@sso

Weighted
Number of Average
Options Exercise Price

Outstanding as of January 1, 2( 3,335,79: $ 1.8
Granted during 200 690,52¢ 0.8¢
Exercisec (144,17 1.27
Forfeited /expired (143,504 1.27
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 3,738,631 $ 1.6¢
Granted during 201 375,00( 1.8C
Exercisec (363,28 1.37
Forfeited /expired (43,470) 0.9¢
Outstanding as of December 31, 2010 3,706,88! $ 1.74

The weighted-average fair value of the options g@uduring 2010 and 2009 were $0.99 and $0.58entisply. Outstanding options of
3,706,885 as of December 31, 2010 had exercisesptiat ranged from $0.68 to $9.74 and had a wedgéerage remaining contractual life
of 5.80. Exercisable options of 3,218,413 as afddeber 31, 2010 had exercise prices that ranged $m68 to $9.74 and had a weighted-
average remaining contractual life of 5.42.

The intrinsic value of outstanding and exercisaiggons totaled $9,426,350 and $8,155,462, resprygtias of December 31, 2010. The
intrinsic value is calculated as the differencenssn the closing price of the Company’s commonksaa®ecember 31, 2010, which was
$4.06 per share, and the exercise price of themgti

The number of shares issuable upon the exercisatsfanding options, and the proceeds upon theisgenf such options, will be lower
if an option holder elects to exercise on a cashbesis.

Note 14. Stock Warrants
Warrants outstanding and exercisable totaled 43382with a weighted-average exercise price of $4réiging between $4.00 and

$6.00) as of December 31, 2010 and December 38, 200e weighted-average remaining contractuablfef December 31, 2010 was 1.06
years.
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The following table summarizes information concegnoutstanding and exercisable warrants as of DieeeBi, 2010:

Weighted Average

Remaining
Number Contractual Life Proceeds Upor
Exercise Prices Qutstanding (years) Exercise Intrinsic Value Expiration Date
$ 4.0C 636,36- 105 $ 2,545,451 $ 38,18: 1/12/1z
$ 4.0C 300,00( 1.4F 1,200,001 18,00( 6/11/12
$ 4.5C 2,759,58: 1.0Z 12,418,11 - 1/12/1z
$ 6.0C 636,36¢ 1.0: 3,818,18 - 1/12/1z
4,332,31! 106 $ 19,981,75 $ 56,18:

The intrinsic value associated with the Companyesrants outstanding or exercisable totaled $56atfPzero as of December 31, 2010
and 2009, respectively.

The number of shares issuable upon the exercisatsfanding warrants, and the proceeds upon threisgef such warrants, will be
lower if a warrant holder elects to exercise omshtess basis.

Note 15. Fair Value Measurement
Valuation Hierarchy

The FASB'’s accounting standard for fair value measients establishes a valuation hierarchy for dssgk of the inputs to valuation
used to measure fair value. This hierarchy piEe# the inputs into three broad levels as followsvel 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical aseet&bilities. Level 2 inputs are quoted pridessimilar assets and liabilities in active
markets or inputs that are observable for the asd@ibility, either directly or indirectly throlgmarket corroboration, for substantially the
full term of the financial instrument. Level 3 img are unobservable inputs based on the Companyisassumptions used to measure assets
and liabilities at fair value. A financial assetliability’s classification within the hierarchg idetermined based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement.

The following table provides the assets and litibdicarried at fair value measured on a recutvagjs as of December 31, 2010 and
2009, respectively:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2010

Quoted prices Significant
Total Carrying in active other Significant
Value at Decembe markets observable unobservable
31, 2010 (Level 1) inputs (Level 2)  inputs (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivale! $ 23,173,335 $ 23,173,35 $ - 8 =
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2009
Quoted prices Significant
Total Carrying in active other Significant
Value at Decembe markets observable unobservable
31, 2009 (Level 1) inputs (Level 2)  inputs (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalel $ 14,040,83 $ 14,040,83 $ - $ =
Derivative liabilities $ 566,45. $ - $ - % 566,45:
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Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fag ualog quoted market prices and are classifiedinvitevel 1 of the valuation
hierarchy. The carrying amounts of accounts rexd#@; accounts payable and accrued liabilities@pprate their fair value due to their short
maturities. The derivative liabilities are measla¢ fair value using quoted market prices andregtd volatility factors, and are classified
within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. Thereres@o changes in the valuation techniques durieg/éar ended December 31, 2010.

The following table sets forth a summary of theraes in the fair value of our Level 3 financiabliities that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009
Fair value, beginning of peric $ 566,45. $ 87,901
Reclassification of derivative liability to equi (566,45) -
Net unrealized loss on derivative financial instaunts - 478,54
Ending balance $ - $ 566,45

Note 16. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Obligations. The Company has entered into operating leasateceto roof rights, cellular towers, office spaaeg equipment
leases under various non-cancelable agreementsrexfiirough December 2020.

As of December 31, 2010, total future lease comenitts were as follows:

Year Ending December 31

2011 $ 3,914,91.
2012 3,5623,10
2013 2,513,65!
2014 1,445,53!
2015 740,82
Thereafter 1,742,70;

$ 13,880,74

Rent expense for the years ended December 31,2G1R2009 totaled approximately $3,280,000 and $2081D, respectively.

In March 2007, the Company entered into a leaseeagent for its corporate offices (the “Original &g8. In August 2007, the Compa
signed a lease amendment adding approximately @s@@are feet (the “Additional Space”) and extegdhe lease term. The new lease term
commenced in October 2007 and terminates six fearsthe date of commencement with an option tewefor an additional five-year
term. The Company’s annual rent payments totgdpdoximately $557,000 in 2010 and will remain atttlevel through May 2012, before
increasing to approximately $590,000 through the: @frthe lease.

The landlord provided the Company with certain s as an inducement to enter the lease agreemeéhese incentives included (i)
an allowance of $163,330 for leasehold improvementthe Original Space, (ii) an allowance of $200,6r leasehold improvements on the
Additional Space, and (iii) an initial six-montmitefree period on half of the Additional Space.akehold improvements funded by the
landlord have been (i) capitalized and are beingréimed over the remaining lease term and (ii) gaized as deferred rent and amortized
ratably over the term of the lease. The econamige of the rent-free period is also recognizededsrred rent and amortized ratably over
the term of the lease. Current and long term hialatotaled $84,157 and $191,025 at December 30, 20

Other Commitments and Contingencies. One of the purchase agreements related to FE@@sles includes a contingent payment
depending on the status of the license with the B@€Cwhether the Company has obtained approvabtdast terrestrially in the 3650 to
3700 MHz band. The contingent payment is due iy B2l1 and payable in shares of common stock wi#tirasalue of $275,000. The
Company presently expects that it will make thetiogent payment in May 2011.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountasion Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the superviarmhwith the participation of our management,udaig our chief executive officer
and chief financial officer, of the effectivenedglme design and operation of our disclosure césimad procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchargg@1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Distire controls and procedures
include, without limitation, controls and procedsidesigned to ensure that information requirecetdibclosed by an issuer in the reports that
it files or submits under the Exchange Act is acolated and communicated to the issuer's managennehiding its principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performisiguilar functions, as appropriate to allow timdicisions regarding required disclosure.
Based upon our evaluation, our chief executiveceffand chief financial officer concluded that disclosure controls and procedures are
effective, as of December 31, 2010, in ensuringeterial information that we are required to ttise in reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summaaizédeported within the time periods specifiethim Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our system of internakabaver financial reporting during the fourth gtex of the year ended December
31, 2010 that have materially affected, or arearably likely to materially affect, our internalrtool over financial reporting.

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over FinancidReporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15¢fijjal 5d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a procesigiled by, or under the supervision of, a
company’s principal executive and principal finaiafficers and effected by a company’s board céatbrs, management and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regattngliability of financial reporting and the pegation of financial statements for extel
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. Our internal control over findgaaeporting includes those policies and
procedures that:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and dispositions of our
assets

« provide reasonable assurance that transactionse@reded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #ad our receipts and expenditures are being malyermaccordance with
authorizations of our management and directors;

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, eselisposition of our assets tl
could have a material effect on the financial steets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det®m31, 2010. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria sebfotlle Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSO) in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, our management has ceth¢had, as of December 31, 2010, our internalrobater financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria.

47




This annual report does not include an attesta#port of our registered public accounting firmaedjng internal control over financial
reporting. Management'’s report was not subjecttstation by our registered public accounting fpursuant to rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission that permanently exempt smaparting companies.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.
Directors and Executive Officers
The following table sets forth the names, ages,ositions of our current directors and executiffeceers. Our directors hold office f
oneyear terms until the following annual meeting adcktholders and until his or her successor has késated and qualified or until t

director’s earlier resignation or removal. Officare elected annually by the Board of Directore (fBoard”) and serve at the discretion of
Board.

Name Age Position

Jeffrey M. Thompsol 46 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Philip Urso 51 Chairman of the Board of Directc

Joseph P. Hernc 51 Chief Financial Office!

Melvin L. Yarbrough, Jr 45 Chief Operating Office

Howard L. Haronian, M.D®@)@®) 49 Director

Paul Koehle()® 51 Director

William J. Bush®)() 45 Director

(1) Member of our Audit Committes
(2) Member of our Compensation Committ
(3) Member of our Nominating Committe

The biographies below include information relatedervice by the persons below to Towerstream CGatjpm and our subsidiary,
Towerstream I, Inc. On January 4, 2007, we mergédand into a wholly-owned Delaware subsidiary,tfee sole purpose of changing our
state of incorporation to Delaware. On January20®,7, a whollyewned subsidiary of ours completed a reverse mavgkrand into a privat
company, Towerstream Corporation, with Towerstr&uorporation (the private company) being the sungwompany and becoming a
wholly-owned subsidiary of ours. Upon closing o tinerger, we discontinued our former business aodegded to the business of
Towerstream Corporation as our sole line of businAsthe same time, we also changed our name tfioiversity Girls Calendar Ltd to
Towerstream Corporation, and our newly acquireciglidry, Towerstream Corporation, changed its nemnleowerstream |, Inc.

Jeffrey M. Thompsorco-founded Towerstream I, Inc. in December 199% Wwhilip Urso. Mr. Thompson has served as a diresit@e
inception and as chief operating officer from ing@p until November 2005 when Mr. Thompson becamssigent and chief executive
officer. Since becoming a public entity in Janua@p7, Mr. Thompson has been our president, chie¢w@tive officer and a director. In 1995,
Mr. Thompson co-founded and was vice presidenpefations of EdgeNet Inc., a privately held Intéservice provider (which was sold to
Citadel Broadcasting Corporation in 1997 and becaRmtress (“eFortress”)) through 1999. Mr. Thonmpkolds a B.S. degree from the
University of Massachusetts. Mr. Thompson was appdito the Board of Directors due to his significeaxperience in the wireless
broadband industry, his familiarity with the Compaas well as his extensive business managemepttese

Philip Urso cofounded Towerstream I, Inc. in December 1999 watiirdy M. Thompson. Mr. Urso has served as a direahd chairma
since inception and as chief executive officer fiogeption until November 2005. Since becoming bliptentity in January 2007, Mr. Urso
has been our chairman and a director. In 1995Uvko co-founded eFortress (previously EdgeNet laed served as its president through
1999. From 1983 until 1997, Mr. Urso owned and atest a group of radio stations. In addition, Mrs&Jco-founded the regional cell-tower
company, MCF Communications, Inc. Mr. Urso was apieal to the Board of Directors due to his sigrifitexperience in the wireless
broadband industry, his familiarity with the Compaas well as his extensive business managemepttése

Joseph P. Hernorhas been our chief financial officer, principaldircial officer and principal accounting officer @njoining the
Company in May 2008. From November 2007 until M&9&, Mr. Hernon was a financial consultant to ehttechnology company. From
November 2005 until October 2007, Mr. Hernon seragthe chief financial officer of Aqua Bounty Tedfogies Inc., a biotechnolog
company dedicated to the improvement of produgtivitthe acquaculture industry through the appiicaof biotechnology. From August
1996 until October 2005, Mr. Hernon served as piasident, chief financial officer and secretanBofkton Life Sciences Inc., a
biotechnology company focused on developing thergggeand diagnostics for central nervous systeseaties. From January 1987 until
August 1996, Mr. Hernon held various positions whimployed at Price Waterhouse Coopers LLP, amitienal accounting firm. Mr.
Hernon is a certified public accountant and hol@s% degree in Business Administration from théversity of Lowell, Massachusetts and a
M.S. degree in Accounting from Bentley College imNdam, MA.
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Melvin L. Yarbrough, Jr.has been our chief operating officer since Noven2di0. Mr. Yarbrough has been employed by the Gomp
since April 2007, serving as Vice President of Sailetil his appointment to Chief Revenue OfficeAungust 2008. In November 2010, Mr.
Yarbrough was appointed to Chief Operating Offidér. Yarbrough came to Towerstream from Hooversrnd Bradstreet (“D&B")),
where he first served as Vice President of BusiBesslopment and then Vice President of Subscrpfales from 2005 until 2007. Prior to
joining D&B, Mr. Yarbrough spent nearly a decades@veral executive sales positions, including serais Senior Vice President of Sa
Marketing and Alliance Channel at StarCite, an emdnd global meetings management company, andcasPvesident of Sales at
Handango, a handheld and wireless software sokitompany. Mr. Yarbrough holds a B.A. degree inrfeooics and Business from
Southern Methodist University and a J.D. degremfkéanderbilt University School of Law.

Howard L. Haronian, M.D.,has served as a director of Towerstream [, Incesinception in December 1999. Since becoming diqub
entity in January 2007, Dr. Haronian has beenecthr. Dr. Haronian is an interventional cardiokigind has been president of Cardiology
Specialists, Ltd. of Rhode Island since 1994. Dardthian has served on the clinical faculty of ttaeYSchool of Medicine since 1994. Dr.
Haronian has directed the cardiac catheterizatiogram at Westerly Hospital since founding the paogin 2003. Dr. Haronian was
appointed to the Board of Directors based on hisresive knowledge of the Company’s operations sitscunding and his executive level
experience at other organizations.

Paul Koehlerhas been a director since January 2007. Mr. Kodlalgiserved as vice president of corporate devednpof Pacific
Ethanol, Inc. (NasdagGM: PEIX) since June 2005. Ktrehler has over twenty years of experience impth&er and renewable fuels
industries and in marketing, trading and projestatigpment. Prior to working for Pacific Ethanol Infrom 2001 to 2005, Mr. Koehler
developed wind power projects for PPM Energy laavind power producer and marketer. Mr. Koehler pr@sident and co-founder of
Kinergy Corporation, a consulting firm focused enewable energy, project development and risk nemagt from 1993 to 2003. During
the 1990s, Mr. Koehler worked for Portland Gené&taktric Company and Enron Corp. in marketing angiation of long- term
transactions, risk management and energy tradingkibkhler holds a B.A. degree from the Honors &gdl at the University of Oregon. Mr.
Koehler currently serves on the Board of Directfr®regon College of Art and Craft, a private aflege, and has been a director since
2009. Mr. Koehler also served on the Board of &iwes of Oregon College of Art and Craft, from 2@8Bough 2007. Mr. Koehler was
appointed to the Board of Directors based on hidgnce as an executive at other public compamidsas a director of other organizations.

William J. Bushhas been a director since January 2007. Since 3a20&0, Mr. Bush has served as the chief finarafiéter of Borrego
Solar Systems, Inc., which is one of the natioa&ling financiers, designers and installers of ceroial and government grid-connected
solar electric power systems. From October 20dBgcember 2009, Mr. Bush served as the chief firsundficer of Solar Semiconductor,
Ltd., a private vertically integrated manufactused distributor of quality photovoltaic modules aystems targeted for use in industrial,
commercial and residential applications with ogerst in India helping it reach $100 million in saie its first 15 months of operation . From
January 2006 through December 2007, Mr. Bush sasethief financial officer of ZVUE Corporation (foerly known as Handheld
Entertainment, Inc. (Pink Sheets: ZVUE.PK)), ardisitor of user generated content. From 2002 t&280. Bush was the chief financial
officer and secretary for International Microcomgruboftware, Inc. (OTCBB: IMSI.OB), a developer atistributor of precision design
software, content and on-line services. Prior & tie was a director of business development ammbcate controller for Buzzsaw.com, Inc.
Mr. Bush was one of the founding members of Buzzsam, Inc., a privately held company spun off fréotodesk, Inc. in 1999, focusing
online collaboration, printing and procurement &gilons. From 1997 to 1999, Mr. Bush worked apooate controller at Autodesk, Inc.
(NasdagGM: ADSK), the fourth largest software aggions company in the world. Prior to that, Mr.sBworked for seven years in public
accounting, first with Ernst & Young, and later vRrice Waterhouse in Munich, Germany. Mr. Bushdbal B.S. degree in Business
Administration from U.C. Berkeley and is a certifipublic accountant. Mr. Bush currently servestenBoard of Directors of FindEx.com
(OTCBB: FIND), a Bible study software provider dmals been a director since 2007. Mr. Bush was afgabio the Board of Directors
because he has significant experience and acuneefireence professional.

Directorships

Except as otherwise reported above, none of oactdirs held directorships in other reporting congsmand registered investment
companies at any time during the past five years.
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Family Relationships

Except for Howard L. Haronian, M.D., and Philip Orsvho are cousins, there are no family relatigmslamong our directors
executive officers.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings
To our knowledge, during the last ten years, ndrauodirectors and executive officers (includitigs$e of our subsidiaries) has:

« Had a bankruptcy petition filed by or against aogihess of which such person was a general pastretecutive officer either at tl
time of the bankruptcy or within two years priorthat time.

- Been convicted in a criminal proceeding or beerexitio a pending criminal proceeding, excludirgfftc violations and other mini
offenses

« Been subject to any order, judgment or decreesmosequently reversed, suspended or vacated, afoamtyof competent
jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoinifgarring, suspending or otherwise limiting his imament in any type of busine
securities or banking activitie

« Been found by a court of competent jurisdictionginivil action), the SEC, or the Commodities Fatufrading Commission to have
violated a federal or state securities or commeslitaw, and the judgment has not been reversepesdsd or vacate

« Been the subject to, or a party to, any sancticorder, not subsequently reverse, suspended otedhaz any self-regulatory
organization, any registered entity, or any eq@inakxchange, association, entity or organizatian lhas disciplinary authority over
its members or persons associated with a mer

Board Committees

Since January 2007, the standing committees oBoard consist of an Audit Committee, a Compensdllommittee and a Nominating
Committee. Each member of our committees is “iethelent’as such term is defined under and required byatierfl securities laws and |
rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market. The chartergath of the committees have been approved by cardBand are available on our
website at www.towerstream.com

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is comprised of three directdvdliam J. Bush, Howard L. Haronian, M.D., anduPKoehler. Mr. Bush is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit Comets duties are to recommend to our Board the emgagt of independent auditors to
audit our financial statements and to review owoaating and auditing principles. The Audit Commttreviews the scope, timing and fees
for the annual audit and the results of audit exations performed by independent public accountamtiuding their recommendations to
improve the system of accounting and internal atetr The Audit Committee oversees the independeditors, including their independer
and objectivity. However, the committee membeesrait acting as professional accountants or agdigord their functions are not intended
to duplicate or substitute for the activities ofrragement and the independent auditors. The AwgfitrGittee is empowered to retain
independent legal counsel and other advisorsdeeins necessary or appropriate to assist the Sadimittee in fulfilling its responsibilitie:
and to approve the fees and other retention tefrfe@dvisors. Each of our Audit Committee mershmrssesses an understanding of
financial statements and generally accepted actmuptinciples. Our Board has determined thatBirsh is an “audit committee financial
expert” as defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regudat S-K.

Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee is comprised of Howarddronian, M.D., and William J. Bush. Dr. Haramia the Chairman of the
Compensation Committee. The Compensation Comntisisecertain duties and powers as described ah@ger, including but not limited

periodically reviewing and approving our salary dmahefits policies, compensation of executive effic administering our stock option
plans, and recommending and approving grants oksiptions under such plans.

51




Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee is comprised of HowardHaronian, M.D., and Paul Koehler. Dr. Haronia€airman of the Nominating
Committee. The Nominating Committee considersraales recommendations on matters related to tloigea, policies and procedures of
the Board and takes a leadership role in shapingaporate governance. As part of its duties Nbaninating Committee assesses the size,
structure and composition of the Board and its cdires, coordinates evaluation of Board performarakreviews Board compensation.
Nominating Committee also acts as a screening andrrating committee for candidates considered liect®n to the Boarc

Changes in Nominating Process
There are no material changes to the proceduresimh security holders may recommend nominees t@oard.
Compensation of Directors

The following table summarizes the compensationrdecduring the fiscal year ended December 31, 20b@ir directors who are not
named executive officers in the summary compensadible below:

Fees Earned o1 Option
Name Paid in Cash Awards (1)(2) Total
Philip Urso $ 31,00((3) $ 40,13¢ $ 71,13¢
Howard L. Haronian, M.D $ 37,50((4) $ 40,13¢ $ 77,63¢
Paul Koehle $ 33,50((3) $ 40,13¢ $ 73,63¢
William Bush $ 37,50((4) $ 40,13¢ $ 77,63¢

(1) Based upon the aggregate grant date fhiewvaalculated in accordance with the Stock Comggmrs Topic of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standardsficaton. Our policy and assumptions made inthkiation of share-based
payments are contained in Note 10 to our Decembge?@L0 financial statemen

(2) Information provided relates to the issuaimc2010 of options to purchase 50,000 sharesfeadhiessrs. Urso, Koehler and Bush,
and Dr. Haronian

(3) Includes $1,000 of fees earned during fiscal y@4i02hat were not paid until fiscal year 20
(4) Includes $2,000 of fees earned during fiscal y@d02hat were not paid until fiscal year 20

Pursuant to the 2008 Non-Employee Directors Congt@nsPlan, each non-employee director is entiibeicceive five-year options to
purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock atengis& price equal to the fair market value of @ammon stock on the date of grant upon
such non-employee director’s election or appointmeur Board and thereafter each year on thelfirsiness day in June, subject to such
director remaining on the Board. Non-employee doecalso receive $25,000 per annum in cash ardiditional $1,000 per Board meeting
attended in person or by telephone, and $500 pentttee meeting attended in person or by telephone.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f4123 amended (the “Exchange Act”) requires oucetkee officers and directors, and
persons who beneficially own more than 10% of @ity securities, to file reports of ownership aféinges in ownership with the SEC.
Based solely on our review of copies of such repantd representations from our executive officatsdirectors, we believe that our
executive officers and directors complied with@diction 16(a) filing requirements during the yeaderl December 31, 2010, except that
Jeffrey M. Thompson, our President, Chief Execu@fticer and a director, failed to timely file affo 4 reporting the issuance of common
stock as bonus shares on February 2, 2010, Josétdri®on, our Chief Financial Officer, failed tantly file a Form 4 reporting the issuance
of common stock as bonus shares on February 2, 2080Melvin L. Yarbrough, Jr., our Chief Operati@€ficer, failed to timely file a Form
4 reporting the issuance of common stock as bomares on February 2, 2010.
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Code of Ethics

Our Board has adopted a code of conduct and dthat®stablishes the standards of ethical congapdicable to all directors, officers,
including our principal executive officer, prinagpfinancial officer, principle accounting officer controller, or persons performing similar
functions, and employees of Towerstream Corporalitve code addresses, among other things, conflictgderest, compliance with
disclosure controls and procedures, and internatcobover financial reporting, corporate opportigs and confidentiality requirements. The
Audit Committee is responsible for applying anceimptreting our code of conduct and ethics in situetiwhere questions are presented to it.
There were no amendments or waivers to this cofledal year 2010. Our code of ethics is availdbtereview on our website at
www.towerstream.comWe will provide a copy of our code of ethics fidfecharge to any person who so requests. Regsiestdd be
directed by e-mail to Philip Mongada, our Vice Rieat of Human Resources, at pmongada@towerstreamhry mail to Towerstream
Corporation, 55 Hammarlund Way, Middletown, Rhoslarnd 02842, or by telephone at (401) 848-5848.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The following table summarizes the annual and Iterg: compensation paid to our chief executive effand our two other most highly
compensated executive officers who were serviigeaend of 2010, whom we refer to collectivelyhrstannual report on Form 10-K as the
“named executive officers”:

Summary Compensation Table

Option

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Awards(1) Total

Jeffrey M. Thompsol 2010 $ 250,227 $ 205,93(2) $ - $ 456,15
President and Chief Executive Offic 2009 $ 236,25( $ 114,37(3) $ 74,48((4) $ 425,10«
Joseph P. Hernc 2010 $ 198,18t $ 131,16(5) $ - $  329,35¢
Chief Financial Office! 2009 % 190,000 $ 78,78{(6) $ 59,5847) $  328,37:
Melvin L. Yarbrough, Jr 2010 $ 198,18{ $ 125,47(8) $ - $ 323,66
Chief Operating Office 2009 $ 190,000 % 62,139) $ 59,5847) $ 311,71

(1) Based upon the aggregate grant date fhievaalculated in accordance with the Stock Comggmrs Topic of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standardsfication. Our policy and assumptions made invhkiation of share-based
payments are contained in Note 10 to our Decembge?@L0 financial statemen

(2) Of this $205,931 cash bonus, Mr. Thompson was axb$d 26,803 in 2010 in recognition of servicesganed during 2010 and N
Thompson was awarded $79,128 in February 201 1cgrétion of services performed in 20:

(3) Consists of $78,782 paid in cash and $35¢&8d in common stock. Mr. Thompson was awardEdSP6 in cash and $23,167 in
common stock in 2009 in recognition of servicesqgened during 2009 and Mr. Thompson was awarded2¥®/in cash and
$12,425 in common stock in February 2010 in recigmiof services performed during 20(

(4) Represents a ten-year option to purchaSe@0Q shares of our common stock at an exercise pfi$0.78 per share granted on May
6, 2009 in recognition of services performed du28§9. Such option vests quarterly over an 18 mpatiod beginning on August
6, 2009.

(5) Of this $131,168 cash bonus, Mr. Hernon aarded $81,477 in 2010 in recognition of servipegormed during 2010 and Mr.
Hernon was awarded $49,691 in February 2011 ingration of services performed in 201

(6) Consists of $59,091 paid in cash and $I9m@8d in common stock. Mr. Hernon was awarded%.in cash and $10,656 in

common stock in 2009 in recognition of servicesfgened during 2009 and Mr. Hernon was awarded $£2id cash and $9,041 in
common stock in February 2010 in recognition of/&es performed during 200
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(7) Represents a ten-year option to purcha®g@0 shares of our common stock at an exercise pfi$0.78 per share granted on May
6, 2009 in recognition of services performed du0§9. Such option vests quarterly over an 18 mpstiod beginning on August
6, 2009.

(8) Of this $125,473 cash bonus, Mr. Yarbrougits awarded $77,409 in 2010 in recognition of sexviperformed during 2010 and Mr.
Yarbrough was awarded $48,064 in February 201&dngnition of services performed in 20

(9) Consists of $46,600 paid in cash and $158d in common stock. Mr. Yarbrough was awar$i2@,104 in cash and $8,701 in
common stock in 2009 in recognition of servicedqrened during 2009 and Mr. Yarbrough was awarde@l 426 in cash and $6,832
in common stock in February 2010 in recognitioselfvices performed during 20(
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table summarizes the outstanding goaivards to our named executive officers as ofebdmer 31, 2010:

Option Awards

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexercisec Unexercised Option Option
Options Options Exercise  Expiration
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price Date
Jeffrey M. Thompsol 280,3041) - $ 0.7¢ 2/27/1%
175,19:(2) - $ 1.14 12/14/1¢
175,19{3) - $ 1.4z 4/28/1¢
75,00((4) - $ 9.74 2/13/1%
12,01((5) - $ 2.0C 12/2/15
7,354(6) 3,67¢ $ 2.0C 3/2/1¢
50,00((7) 25,000 $ 0.6¢ 12/30/1¢
18,40¢(8) - $ 0.77 3/30/1¢
125,00((9) - $ 0.7¢ 5/5/1¢
Joseph P. Hernc 100,00((10) 50,00C $ 1.4t 6/1/1¢
16,66¢(7) 8,33¢ $ 0.6¢ 12/30/1¢
19,79%(8) - $ 0.77 3/30/1¢
100,00((9) - 3 0.7¢ 5/5/1¢
Melvin L. Yarbrough, Jr 135,00((11) - $ 7.08 5/9/17
135,00((12) - 3 3.7¢ 6/28/17
43,33:(10) 21,66¢ $ 1.4¢ 6/1/1¢
33,3347) 16,667 $ 0.6¢ 12/30/1¢
18,68%(8) - $ 0.77 3/30/1¢
100,00((9) - $ 0.7¢ 5/5/1¢

(1) Such option vested as to «third of the shares subject to the option annualiynmencing February 28, 20(
(2) Such option was fully vested and exercisable orebdxer 15, 2004, the date of gre

(3) Such option was fully vested and exercisable onl2&8; 2005, the date of grar

(4) Such option vested in equal quarterly installmewer a twi-year period commencing April 1, 20(

(5) Such option was fully vested and exercisable oreBuxer 3, 2007, the date of gre

(6) Such option vests as to «third of the shares subject to the option annuallynmencing March 3, 200

(7) Such option vests as to «-third of the shares subject to the option annuallynmencing December 31, 20!

(8) Such option was fully vested and exercisable onckl&d, 2009, the date of gra
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(9) Such option vested in equal quarterly installmewesr an 18 month period commencing August 6, 2

(10)Such option vests as to «third of the shares subject to the option annuatiynmencing June 2, 20C

(11)Such option vests as to «-third of the shares subject to the option annualiynmencing May 10, 200

(12)Such option vests as to c«third of the shares subject to the option annuatiynmencing June 29, 20(
Employment Agreements and Change-in-Control Agreentgs

On December 21, 2007, we entered into an employagmeement with Jeffrey M. Thompson, our princigedcutive officer. Pursuant
the terms of the agreement, Mr. Thompson servediashief executive officer and president and i& imm automatic one-year renewals,
subject to either party electing not to renew. Whompsons initial base salary was $225,000 per annum, wimak be increased annually
our Board in its discretion, but which increasellshat be less than the greater of (i) the annoaldéase in the consumer price index or (ii)
5%. Effective January 1, 2010, Mr. Thompson’s tssary was $248,063. Effective December 16, 20k0Thompson’s base salary was
increased to $300,000. Mr. Thompson is eligiblesfdionus of up to 75% of his base salary, as dé@techby our Board. In addition, we will
pay 100% of all costs associated with Mr. Thompsamhployee benefits, including without limitatioedith insurance.

If Mr. Thompson’s employment is terminated (i) byywithout “cause,” (ii) by him for “good reason” i) by us within two years of a
“change of control” (as such terms are definedhandgreement), then (a) we will be required toayThompson twenty-four months base
salary in monthly installments, (b) any unvestetians to purchase shares of our common stock wioutdediately vest and become
exercisable and any restrictions on restrictedkstomuld immediately lapse, and (c) we must contittuprovide employee benefits, including
without limitation health insurance, to Mr. Thompsfor a period of five years following such terntina.

During Mr. Thompson’s employment with us, and fqreaiod of twelve months following his terminati¢the “Restricted Period”),
except for a termination by Mr. Thompson for “gaedson,’he is prohibited from engaging in any line of besis in which we were engac
or had a formal plan to enter during the periotlisfemployment with us. We will continue to pay.Mhompson his base salary then in
effect, in accordance with our customary payrddgtices for the duration of any such Restrictedd@an the event that Mr. Thompson'’s
employment is terminated voluntarily by him, excipt‘good reason,” or by us for “cause.”

In May 2008, Joseph P. Hernon joined the ComparGhasf Financial Officer. His employment offer pided for a base annual salary
of $190,000 and bonus payments up to 58% of bdag/sas determined by the Board. Effective Afri010, Mr. Hernon’s base salary was
increased to $199,500. Effective December 16, 2BtOHernon’s base salary was increased to $225/0p6n joining the Company, Mr.
Hernon was granted options to purchase 150,00@slwiicommon stock at an exercise price of $1.45lp&re, vesting in three annual
installments commencing upon the first anniversdrhe grant. He has received subsequent awadisaigible to receive additional stock-
based awards at the discretion of the Board amdogded under the Company’s stooised incentive plans. He is also eligible toippdte
in the Company’s health and other employee bepkfits. The Company pays 100% of Mr. Hernon’s haakurance. Mr. Hernon is an
employee at will.

In April 2007, Mel Yarbrough joined the Company\ése President of Sales. His employment offer pied for a base annual salary of
$165,000 and bonus payments up to 61% of baseysaladetermined by the Chief Executive OfficefeEfive April 1, 2010, Mr.
Yarbrough’s base salary was increased to $199,360November 2010, Mr. Yarbrough was appointethtoposition of Chief Operating
Officer. Effective December 16, 2010, Mr. Yarbrbiggbase salary was increased to $225,000. Upampthe Company, Mr. Yarbrough
was granted options to purchase 135,000 sharemmhon stock at an exercise price of $7.05 per shasting in three annual installments
commencing upon the first anniversary of the graié. has received subsequent awards and is eligilsceive additional stock-based
awards at the discretion of the Board and as peavichder the Company'’s stock based incentive pErs Company pays 100% of Mr.
Yarbrough's health insurance. He is also eligiblparticipate in the Comparg/health and other employee benefit plans. Mr. Marph is a
employee at will.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter
The following table sets forth information with pest to the beneficial ownership of our common lstag of March 15, 2011 by:
« each person known by us to beneficially own moamth% of our common stock (based solely on oueredf SEC filings);

« each of our directors;
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« each of our named executive officers; and
« all of our directors and executive officers as augr.

The percentages of common stock beneficially owaredeported on the basis of regulations of the §&@rning the determination of
beneficial ownership of securities. Under the radéthe SEC, a person is deemed to be a benefiniaér of a security if that person has or
shares voting power, which includes the power te o to direct the voting of the security, or istlent power, which includes the power to
dispose of or to direct the disposition of, witkpect to the security. Except as indicated in tlo¢riotes to this table, each beneficial owner
named in the table below has sole voting and swlestment power with respect to all shares beradfjodwned and each person’s address is
c/o Towerstream Corporation, 55 Hammarlund Way,ditbwn, Rhode Island 02842, unless otherwise atdit

Amount and Nature Percent o
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner of Beneficial Ownership(1 Class(1)

5% Stockholders:

Joel Lusman (2 5,000,001 12%
c/o Lusman Capital Management, LI

717 Fifth Avenue, 1t Floor

New York, NY 1002z

Directors and Named Executive Officers

Philip Urso 3,744,52(3) 8.7%
William J. Bush 167,50((4) *
Howard L. Haroniat 1,124,37(5) 2.€%
Paul Koehle! 158,65((6) *
Jeffrey M. Thompsol 2,689,65(7) 6.2%
Joseph P. Hernc 259,38¢8) *
Melvin L. Yarbrough, Jr 482,4849) 1.1%
All directors and executive officers as a groupérsons 8,626,56/(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)(8)(9 19.2%

* Less than 1%.

(1) Shares of common stock beneficially owned tuedrespective percentages of beneficial ownemshgommon stock assumes the
exercise of all options, warrants and other seiesritonvertible into common stock beneficially oy such person or entity
currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 daefyBecember 31, 2010. Shares issuable pursudhetexercise of stock options and
warrants exercisable within 60 days are deemedandig and held by the holder of such options arants for computing the
percentage of outstanding common stock benefic@llyied by such person, but are not deemed outsigifiati computing the
percentage of outstanding common stock benefic@adlged by any other person. As of March 15, 20idrg were 42,364,543 shares
of our common stock outstandir

(2) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEGlovember 24, 2010. Includes 5,000,000 sharesheldisman Capital Management,
LLC. Joel Lusman, as Managing Member of Lusmanit@ablanagement, LLC, may be deemed to have shaweekr to vote or direc
the vote of, and to dispose or direct the dispasitf, the securities of the Company held by Lus@apital Management, LL(

(3) Includes 248,386 shares of common stock hglelb Urso’s minor children, for whom Mr. Urso ahis wife are the trustees, and
512,886 shares of common stock issuable upon threisg of options that are currently exercisablexarcisable within 60 day

(4) Includes 162,500 shares of common stock idsugion the exercise of options that are currezsigrcisable or exercisable within 60
days.

(5) Includes 175,039 shares of common stock idsugion the exercise of options that are curremtiyrcisable or exercisable within 60
days.

(6) Includes 158,650 shares of common stock idsugion the exercise of options that are currezsigrcisable or exercisable within 60
days.
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(7) Includes 922,143 shares of common stock idsugion the exercise of options that are curremtiyrcisable or exercisable within 60
days.

(8) Includes 200,000 shares of common stock igsugion the exercise of options that are curremtiyrcisable or exercisable within 60
days.

(9) Includes 270,000 shares of common stock idsugion the exercise of options that are currezsigrcisable or exercisable within 60
days.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence.

Related parties can include any of our directorsxacutive officers, certain of our stockholderd #reir immediate family members.
Each year, we prepare and require our directorseaadutive officers to complete Director and Offiuestionnaires identifying any
transactions with us in which the officer or di@odr their family members have an interest. Tleips us identify potential conflicts of
interest. A conflict of interest occurs when anividbial’s private interest interferes, or appeargterfere, in any way with the interests of the
company as a whole. Our code of ethics requiredir@ttors, officers and employees who may havetargial or apparent conflict of interest
to immediately notify our Audit Committee of the &d of Directors, which is responsible for consiagrand reporting to the Board any
questions of possible conflicts of interest of BRbarembers. Our code of ethics further requirescfgarance before any employee, officer or
director engages in any personal or business pcthat may raise concerns about conflict, potéctaflict or apparent conflict of interest.
Copies of our code of ethics and the Audit Comnaittkarter are posted on the corporate governactiersef our website at
www.towerstream.com

At no time during the last two fiscal years has argcutive officer, director or any member of thiegbviduals’ immediate families, any
corporation or organization with whom any of thesdividuals is an affiliate or any trust or estatevhich any of these individuals serves i
trustee or in a similar capacity or has a substhh@neficial interest been indebted to the Compmarnyas involved in any transaction in wh
the amount exceeded $120,000 and such persondieettor indirect material interest.

In evaluating related party transactions and pakobnflicts of interest, our compliance officerdaindependent directors apply the same
standards of good faith and fiduciary duty theylapp their general responsibilities. They will appe a related party transaction only when,
in their good faith judgment, the transaction isha best interest of the Company.

Director Independence

Each of Howard L. Haronian, Paul Koehler and WhlliBush are independent directors, as provided iSNAQ Marketplace Rule 5605
@(2).

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The following table sets forth the fees that thenpany accrued or paid to Marcum LLP during fisd@l@ and fiscal 2009.

2010 2009
Audit Fees(1 $ 178,56: $ 172,51¢
Audit-Related Fees(Z - -
Tax Fees(3 - -
All Other Fees - -
Total $ 178,56: $ 172,51¢

(1) Audit fees relate to professional serviesdered in connection with the audit of the Comnyfmannual financial statements and
internal control over financial reporting, quarjeréview of financial statements included in then@any’s Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q, and audit services provided in connection witieo statutory and regulatory filing:

(2) Auditrelated fees relate to professional services readi@rconnection with assurance and related sexvtice are reasonably relatet
the performance of the audit or review of the Cony’s financial statements, including due diliger

(3) Tax fees relate to professional servicesleeed for tax compliance, tax advice and tax plamfor the Company. The Company does
not engage Marcum LLP to perform personal tax ses/for its executive officer
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Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee pre-approves all audit and aadit services performed by the Company’s auditor the fees to be paid in
connection with such services in order to assuaettte provision of such services does not imperauditor’s independence.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Exhibit No. Description
2.1 Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorgaromatilated January 12, 2007, by and among Unive&itg Calendar, Ltd.,
Towerstream Acquisition, Inc. and Towerstream Caaion (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1tte Current Report
on Form K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Universityirld Calendar, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference xtikit 3.1 to the Current Report
on Form &K of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. filed with tHgecurities and Exchange Commission on Januar9(,)z
3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Certificate nE€brporation of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. atlying the Compang’name tc
Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by referéndexhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-KTafwerstream
Corporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on January 19, 200
3.3 Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferenaed Privileges of Series A Preferred Stock (Inooajged by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofwlerstream Corporation filed with the Securities &xdhange
Commission on November 12, 201
3.4 By-Laws of Towerstream Corporation (Incogted by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Currentd®epn Form 8-K of
Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securitiasl &xchange Commission on January 19, 2(
3.5 Amendment No. 1 to the By-Laws of Towerstreampoation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit & the Current
Report on Form -K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on August 30, 2(
4.1 Rights Agreement dated as of November 90 Zhicorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Gherent Report on Form K-
of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Secustand Exchange Commission on November 12, 2!
10.1* Towerstream Corporation 2007 Equity Congation Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhitittd the Current Report on
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
10.2* Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan hice Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by refee to Exhibit 10.18 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Coation filed with the Securities and Exchange Cosgioin on
January 19, 2007
10.3* Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Naumalified Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated éference to Exhibit 10.19
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstreamp@aation filed with the Securities and Exchangen@ussion on
January 19, 2007
104 Form of Directors and Officers IndemnifioatAgreement (Incorporated by reference to ExHibitl7 to the Current Report
on Form K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
10.5* Towerstream Corporation 2007 Incentive Stock Pilacofporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to tlegiRtration Stateme
on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-142032) of Towerstreaangration initially filed with the Securities afitkchange
Commission on April 11, 2007
10.6 Form of Placement Agent Agreement for RO@7 Offering (Incorporated by reference to Exhitfit10 to the Registration
Statement on Form SB-2 (333-142032) of Towerstr€amporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on
April 11, 2007).
10.7 Form of Subscription Agreement (Incorpadaig reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrattatement on Form SB-2
(333-142032) of Towerstream Corporation filed with trec@rities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 2C
10.8** Employment Agreement, dated December2BD7, between Towerstream Corporation and Jeffreyidmpson
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to therént Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporafited with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Decembet(RII7,).
10.9 Office Lease Agreement dated March 21, 28#een Tech 2, 3, & 4 LLC (Landlord) and Toweam Corporation
(Tenant).
10.10 First Amendment to Office Lease dated August 8,72@Mending Office Lease Agreement dated Marcl2(Y .
10.11* 2008 Nor-Employee Directors Compensation Pl
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14.1 Code of Ethics and Business Condi

21.1 List of Subsidiaries. (Incorporated by refece to Exhibit 21.1 on Annual Report on Form 108fK owerstream Corporation
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioiviarch 17, 2009’

23.1 Consent of Marcum LLF

31.1 Section 302 Certification of Principal Executivefiodr.

31.2 Section 302 Certification of Principal Financialfioér.

32.1 Section 906 Certification of Principal Executivefiodr.

32.2 Section 906 Certification of Principal Financialfioér.

* Management compensatory plan
* Management contract
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION

Date: March 17, 201 By: /s/ Jeffrey M. Thompso

Jeffrey M. Thompsol
President and Chief Executive Offic

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this repostiiheen signed below by the following persons oralieth the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Capacity Date
/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso
Director and Chief Executive Officer March, 2011
Jeffrey M. Thompsol (President and Principal Executive Offic
/sl Joseph P. Hernc
Chief Financial Officer March 17, 2011
Joseph P. Hernc (Principal Financial Officer an

Principal Accounting Officer
/ s/ Philip Ursc

Director - Chairman of the Board of Directors March 17, 2011
Philip Urso
/s/ Howard L. Haronian, M.C

Director March 17, 2011
Howard L. Haronian, M.D
/s/ William J. Bust

Director March 17, 2011
William J. Bush
/s/ Paul Koehle

Director March 17, 2011

Paul Koehlel
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description
2.1 Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorgaromatilated January 12, 2007, by and among Unive&itg Calendar, Ltd.,
Towerstream Acquisition, Inc. and Towerstream Caaion (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1tte Current Report
on Form K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Universityirld Calendar, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference xtikit 3.1 to the Current Report
on Form K of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. filed with tHgecurities and Exchange Commission on Januar9(,)z
3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorption of University Girls Calendar, Ltd., changithe Company name t(
Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by referéndexhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-KTafwerstream
Corporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on January 19, 200
3.3 Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferes and Privileges of Series A Preferred Stoakofiporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofwlerstream Corporation filed with the Securities &xdhange
Commission on November 12, 201
3.4 By-Laws of Towerstream Corporation (Incogted by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Currentd®epn Form 8-K of
Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securitiesl &xchange Commission on January 19, 2(
3.5 Amendment No. 1 to the By-Laws of Towerstreampoation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit & the Current
Report on Form -K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on August 30, 2(
4.1 Rights Agreement dated as of November 90 Zhicorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Gherent Report on Form K-
of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Secustand Exchange Commission on November 12, 2!
10.1* Towerstream Corporation 2007 Equity Congation Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhitittd the Current Report on
Form &K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
10.2* Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan hiine Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by refee to Exhibit 10.18 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Coation filed with the Securities and Exchange Cosgioin on
January 19, 2007
10.3* Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Naualified Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated éference to Exhibit 10.19
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstreamp@aation filed with the Securities and Exchangen@ussion on
January 19, 2007
104 Form of Directors and Officers IndemnifioatAgreement (Incorporated by reference to ExHibitl7 to the Current Report
on Form K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
10.5* Towerstream Corporation 2007 Incentive Stock Pilacofporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to tlegiRtration Stateme
on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-142032) of Towerstreaangration initially filed with the Securities afitkchange
Commission on April 11, 2007
10.6 Form of Placement Agent Agreement for R0@7 Offering (Incorporated by reference to Exhitfit10 to the Registration
Statement on Form SB-2 (333-142032) of Towerstr€amporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on
April 11, 2007).
10.7 Form of Subscription Agreement (Incorpadaig reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrattdatement on Form SB-2
(333-142032) of Towerstream Corporation filed with trec@rities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 2C
10.8** Employment Agreement, dated December2BD7, between Towerstream Corporation and Jeffreyidmpson
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to therént Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporafited with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Decembet(RIT7,).
10.9 Office Lease Agreement dated March 21, 2##een Tech 2, 3, & 4 LLC (Landlord) and Toweram Corporation
(Tenant).
10.10 First Amendment to Office Lease dated August 8,72@Mnending Office Lease Agreement dated Marcl202.
10.11* 2008 Nor-Employee Directors Compensation Pl
14.1 Code of Ethics and Business Condi
21.1 List of Subsidiaries. (Incorporated by refece to Exhibit 21.1 on Annual Report on Form 10fK owerstream Corporation
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioiviarch 17, 2009
23.1 Consent of Marcum LLF
31.1 Section 302 Certification of Principal Executivefiogr.
31.2 Section 302 Certification of Principal Financialfioér.
32.1 Section 906 Certification of Principal Executivefiodr.
32.2 Section 906 Certification of Principal Financialfioér.




* Management compensatory plan
* Management contract




EXHIBIT 14.1

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION
CODE OF ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT

POLICY STATEMENT

This Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (this &pdescribes the standards of ethical and busio@sduct expected of directc
officers and employees (collectively referred toeir as the “Employeesdf Towerstream Corporation (the "Company"). All Homyee:
will be required to attest annually to their awasmand acceptance of this Code, and to affirm doaipliance with its provisions.

This Code provides guidelines for ethical and pssi@nal conduct. Employees must exercise soundredfjand common sense
interpreting and applying these standards in armgryisituation. In cases of doubt, Employees sheoltsult with an Officer of tt
Company.

GUIDELINES
A. ETHICAL BEHAVIOR

The Company is committed to creating a work envitent and a business culture grounded in ethicaehin every respect. T
Company is committed to (i) fostering an environtngfrhonesty and fairness, (ii) providing a safd aealthy environment free frc
the fear of retribution, and (iii) respecting thigrdty due everyone. The Company is committed toespimg sound growth ai
earnings objectives and to exercising prudenc&enuse of its assets and resources. The Compamynigiitted to fair competitic
and the sense of responsibility required of a gneggtomer and service provider.

B. POSITIVE WORK ENVIRONMENT

The Company is committed to the recruitment, tragnidevelopment and retention of competent stalff. efployment decision
including hiring, promotion and transfer, must bada solely on merit, experience and other worktedlariteria.

Employees want and deserve a workplace where dedydspected and appreciated. The Company respgttsal diversity and wi
not tolerate harassment or discrimination of amdkiwhether involving race, color, religion, gendereagational origin, disabilit
sexual orientation, veteran or marital status.




Providing an environment that supports honestyegnty, respect, trust, responsibility, and citigeip permits the opportunity
achieve excellence in the workplace. While all emgpks must contribute to creating and maintaininghsan environmer
supervisors, mangers, and other senior level peg@ssume special responsibility for fosteringaknenvironment that brings ¢
the best in all employees. Supervisors must befidaie words and conduct to avoid placing, or sesgnio place, pressure
subordinates that could cause them to deviate &oreptable ethical behavior.

ACCURATE AND COMPLETE RECORDS

Each employee is responsible for maintaining aceuaad complete records in their respective areapefations (finance, sal
information technology, customer service, engimeggrhuman resources, etc.). All transactions rbasapproved and executec
accordance with internal control procedures andtrbesrecorded in such a manner that facilitatess gheparation of accur:
financial statements.

Employees may not manipulate financial/customedeeraccounts, records or reports or take any acticgause any person to ti
any action to influence, coerce, manipulate or @aidlauditors for the purpose of rendering the fir@rstatements misleading.

Employees may not knowingly alter, destroy, mugiJatonceal, cover up, falsify or make a false emrgny record, document
tangible object. Employees may not obstruct, inepedirect or influence the investigation or propéministration of any matt
within the jurisdiction of any department or agewyhe United States.

Employees who prepare, maintain or have custodthefCompany's records and reports should endeavensure that the
documents are: (i) accurate and complete; (ii) gadeded from loss or destruction; (iii) retained $pecified periods of time
accordance with state and federal requirements(ighdhaintained in confidence.

As required by the Sarban€sdey Act, the Company has established a processtigh employees can report any complaint
concerns regarding the Compasyjusiness practices. This includes the Compaligtdosure controls and procedures, and int
controls over financial reporting, to the exterievant to their area of responsibility. Pleaserédehe Complaint Notification Polit
for additional information.




D. OBEY THE LAW

E.

Towerstream conducts its business in accordandethé applicable laws, rules and regulations ofcities and states where it d
business. Ignorance of such laws, rules or regulativill not serve as a defense for rmmmpliance. Compliance with the law d
not comprise our entire ethical responsibility. Hat it is a minimum standard of performance of duties.
Employees must comply with antitrust laws whichhibit practices that restrain trade such as piidad and boycotting suppliers
customers. They also bar pricing intended to daveompetitor out of business; disparaging, misspreng, or harassing
competitor; stealing trade secrets; bribery; antttiacks.
Towerstream is a publicly-held company subjecth® tules of NASDAQ, the Securities and Exchange @@sion (“SEC”)anc
other federal and state government agencies ahaedtasuch as the Sarbanes Oxley Act. Theseemntiive issued specific ru
governing transactions in the Companysecurities. The Company has developed an Indidading Policy which provide
guidance. Please refer to that document for fuitifermation.
AVOID CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
Employees have an obligation to give their compleyalty to the best interests of the Company. Thleguld avoid any action tt
may involve, or may appear to involve, a conflitirderest with the Company. A "conflict of intetégxists when a person's priv
interests interfere in any way with the interestthe Company. Examples of conflict of interestiute:

« Employment with a current or potential competitdrile employed by the Company.

« Acceptance of gifts, payment, or services from ¢heeeking to do business with the Company.

« Placement of business with a firm owned or corgmbbly an Employee or their family.

« Ownership of, or substantial interest in, a compiduay is a competitor, client or supplier.

« Acting as a consultant to a customer, client opfiap




Employees must report in writing any circumstangbgh constitute or could create a conflict okirgst.

If a potential conflict of interest exists, it must reported in writing to the Company's Chief Bxtae Officer or the Chief Financi
Officer for approval. Potential conflicts of inésts involving executive officers or directors mistreported to the Audit Commit
for approval.

For the purposes of this Code, the term "investinentownership”means any investment beneficially owned by the Byg#, thei
family member, nominee, or other person throughctvithe Employee derives an economic benefit. Howekie term "investmen
shall not mean any beneficial ownership of up @ fpercent (5%) of the outstanding securities pliblicly-held company that is
customer, supplier, contractor, or competitor @ @ompany.

CORPORATE OPPORTUNITY

Employees should not (i) take any business, comalesc other opportunities for themselves that diszovered in performing th
job with the Company and /or through the use of Gany property, information or position; (ii) user@pany property, informatio
or position for personal gain; or (iii) directly mpete with the Company. Employees owe a duty toGbmpany to advance
legitimate interests when the opportunity to dasses.

OUTSIDE ACTIVITIES

Officers and employees should avoid outside empéoytnor activities that impair effective performarafetheir obligations to tt
Company, either because of excessive demands ortithe or because the outside commitments cornetiéudrain away from tl
Company of their talents and creative energies.

Reasonable participation in a trade associatiamfepsional society or charitable institution wititrbe considered a violation.
COMPETE ETHICALLY AND FAIRLY

The Company strives to outperform its competit@islyf and honestly. The Company will work diliggntio gain a competiti
advantage. However, employees must always compleizakly and fairly. Practices such as industrigpienage, theft, bribery,
forgery are prohibited. Employees shall not seekfidential information from a new employee who eetty worked for

competitor, or misrepresent their identity in tlopés of getting confidential information from a quatitor. Any form of questionak
intelligence gathering is prohibited.




Employees should respect the rights of and dedy/faith the Company's customers, suppliers and getitors. Employees shot
never take advantage of anyone through manipulationcealment, abuse of privileged information, rappsesentation of mater
facts or through any other intentionally unfair iméss practices.

AVOID ILLEGAL AND QUESTIONABLE GIFTS OR FAVORS

The purpose of business entertainment and gift& inommercial setting is to create goodwill and dugffective workin
relationships. The sale and marketing of our ses/ghould be free from perceptions that favorabklgment was sought, receivec
given in exchange for gifts or favors. No gift @vér should be given, provided or accepted by amplByee, family members
agents unless it: (1) is consistent with custonfausiness practices, (2) is not excessive in vdR)ezannot be construed as a brib
payoff and (4) does not violate any laws or regote. Employees may accept small gifts or favoas #ould be considered comn
business courtesies, however, no Employee shogkpaa gift or favor that might be intended touefhce, or appear to influenct
business decision. Employees must report to tlhipervisor whenever a gift or favor is received.

An Employee shall never accept travel or vacatisaregements, or similar favors or gratuities. Atlieig sports or theatrical eve
with and as a guest of a supplier or receiving tspartheatre tickets for personal use is acceptialklept within reasonable limits.

What is acceptable practice in the commercial ssirenvironment may be against the law or the ipsliof federal, state or lo
governments. Therefore, no gifts or business aitenent of any kind may be given to any governnegnployee except for items
nominal value (i.e., pens, coffee mugs, etc.).

In addition, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (REProhibits the Company or anyone acting on itediefrom making a payme
or giving a gift to a norJ.S. government official for purposes of obtaingretaining business. The FCPA applies to the Gay
everywhere in the world where we do business, waradlrectly or indirectly, and even applies if yate not a U.S. citizen.

MAINTAIN THE INTEGRITY OF CONSULTANTS, AGENTS, AND REPRESENTATIVES

Business integrity is a key standard for the sielacand retention of consultants, agents, and sepitatives (collectively, Third
Parties”). Third Parties should be informed that the Compamydacts business with high ethical standards, hatit expects tt
Third Parties to conduct themselves in a similannea when working on behalf of the Company. Whegnded appropriate
required, Third Parties should be provided withopycof the Companyg Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, and requd
certify that they will work with or on behalf of¢hCompany in accordance with its provisions.




K. PROTECT PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

All information about the Company, including itsdiness, operations and processes, stockholdetsymers and suppliers should
considered confidential unless the information ligaady known to the public. This includes, but ist fimited to, confidentic
technology, proprietary information, trade secréissiness plans, documents, pricing and recordgldymes should not, withc
prior written authorization, acquire, use, access)y, remove, modify, alter or disclose to any @hRarties, any confident
information for any purpose.

Suppliers, customers and competitors may divulderimation that is proprietary to their businesseTdonfidential nature of tr
information must be respected. Similarly, all Eny@les must respect the confidentiality of any forreerployer's proprieta
information, and should not divulge or use sucbiimfation unless written permission has been obdaine

Confidential information or materials must be reed to the Company upon termination of employmenassociation with tr
Company. All information developed or invented onnection with your employment, whether directlyiradirectly, is owned by tt
Company. Unauthorized disclosure of confidentialoimation by an Employee will result in discipliyamaction includini
employment termination and/or prosecution undelicgigle law.

L. OBTAIN AND USE COMPANY ASSETS WISELY
Proper use of Company property, information, resesir material, facilities and equipment is youpogsibility. Use and mainte
these assets with care and respect, guarding agaaste and abuse, and never borrow or remove Qumpeoperty withot
management's permission. Company assets mustuseaetupon termination of employment.

Any discovery, improvement, or invention made oneagived by an employee, either solely or jointlghwathers, during the term
employment with the Company, shall be the exclupiaperty of the Company whether or not patentableopyrightable.




M. POLITICAL AFFAIRS AND CIVIC ACTIVITIES
The Company encourages employees to become invalveilic affairs and to participate in politicattavities. However, ar
involvement and participation must be on an indrgidbasis, on your own time and at your own expe@satacts with governmen
officials, whether direct or indirect, shall at d@lmes be maintained as proper business relatipashtederal law prohib
corporations from donating funds, goods, or sessiadirectly or indirectly, to candidates for fedeodfices — this include

employees' work time. Local and state laws alsoegowolitical contributions and activities as thagply to their respecti
jurisdictions.

N. BOARD OVERSIGHT

The Audit Committee has authority to enforce thisd€ of Ethics and Business Conduct as appropifdie.Audit Committee wi
report to the Board of Directors regarding this €ofl Ethics and Business Conduct as appropriate.

O. REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE
1. REPORTING OF VIOLATIONS

It can sometimes be difficult to determine if alai®n has occurred. Employees are encouragedstuss the situation and s
guidance from their supervisor or manager.

Violations, suspected violations or good faith ams, should be reported immediately to either Ghairman of the Aud
Committee or to an executive officer. All Emplogesre expected to cooperate in internal investigati

2. PROHIBITION AGAINST RETALIATION
Retaliation against an Employee who reports vioteiwill not be tolerated.
3. ENFORCEMENT

The provisions of this Code shall be strictly enfmt. The Company views this Code as an intguaetl of conducting i
business.

P. DISCIPLINARY MEASURES

The Company shall enforce the Code through apmtgpmeans of discipline. The disciplinary measgasrange from counsel
to termination of employment.

Employees may also be subject to disciplinary actidhey (i) fail to use reasonable care to degewtolation, (ii) fail to divulge ¢
withhold material information and (iii) approve @sndone the violations or (iv) attempt to retaliagminst those reporting violations.




EXHIBIT 23.1

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRNS CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRegistration Statements of Towerstream CorporatioAmendment No.1 to Form 3-
(File No. 333-166239), Amendment No.1 to Form §Rle No. 333-161135), Amendment No. 3 to Form SBR2Form S-3 (File No. 333-
141405), Form S-8 (File No. 333-161180) and Forgh (E#le No. 333-151306) of our report dated Margh 2011, with respect to our aud
of the consolidated financial statements of Toweesh Corporation and Subsidiaries as of Decemhe2@I0 and 2009 and for the years
ended, which report is included in this Annual Reéjpo Form 10-K of Towerstream Corporation for yfear ended December 31, 2010.

/s/ MarcumLLp

MarcumLLp
New York, New York
March 17, 2011



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey M. Thompson, certify that:

1)
)

®3)

(4)

()

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Towerstream Corporation for the fiscal yeadeth December 31, 201

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omsttéde a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this ref

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects, the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrardfaand for, the periods presented
in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Bd)) and internal control over financial repogti(as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls andgatares, or caused such disclosure controls anéguoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared

b) Designed such internal control over finahm@gorting, or caused such internal control oweatrficial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assarsegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regts disclosure controls and procedures and predém this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures, as of the end of the period couwyéhis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in the report any change in the regissanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of thewaineport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorsldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardiofctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contra¢ofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize asmbrt financial information;
and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrang’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 17, 2011

/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso

Jeffrey M. Thompsol
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Joseph P. Hernon, certify that:

1)
)

®3)

(4)

()

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Towerstream Corporation for the fiscal yeadeth December 31, 201

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omsttéde a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this ref

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects, the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrardfaand for, the periods presented
in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Bd)) and internal control over financial repogti(as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls andgatares, or caused such disclosure controls anéguoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared

b) Designed such internal control over finahm@gorting, or caused such internal control oweatrficial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assarsegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regts disclosure controls and procedures and predém this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures, as of the end of the period couwyéhis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in the report any change in the regissanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of thewaineport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorsldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardiofctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contra¢ofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize asmbrt financial information;
and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrang’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 17, 2011

/sl Joseph P. Hernc

Joseph P. Hernc
Chief Financial Officel




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Towerstre@orporation, (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for geended December 31, 2010
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (the “Report”), |, Jeffrey Mhompson, President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify rpuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted porso&ection 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Reportlfapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations
of the Company

Date: March 17, 2011

/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso

Jeffrey M. Thompsol
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Towerstre@orporation, (the “Company”) on Form 10-K forettyear ended December
31, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchadgmmission on the date hereof (the “Report”)Jdseph P. Hernon, Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 WL SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Reportlfapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations
of the Company

Date: March 17, 2011

/sl Joseph P. Hernc

Joseph P. Hernc
Chief Financial Officel




